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A key part of ensuring our sustainability is a new 
core banking system, which will offer members a 
more seamless way of banking with us. To ensure we 
get the process right, we’ve engaged expert board 
advisor Glenn Stafford, who has consulted on core 
banking systems across Australia and the Asia-Pacific 
region. With Glenn’s oversight, we’ve undergone a 
process of continual review to ensure the new system 
is fit-for-purpose and future-proof. 

It’s important to stress our digital transformation will 
not reduce face-to-face interaction between members 
and our staff. We know that’s one of the reasons our 
members value Police Bank and show loyalty to us. In 
fact, the technology is designed to free up staff from 
clunky systems to focus on more purposeful matters. 
We envision staff having more conversations with 
members about their banking journeys and goals 
– something that sets Police Bank apart from our 
competitors, especially in an age of cost-cutting and 
consolidation. 

As members know, Police Bank does not have 
shareholders and all of our profits are redirected 
to our members and community. While we have 
regulatory obligations to hit certain financial 
benchmarks to prove our viability and sustainability 
as a banking entity, most of what we gain is given 
back. We do this by offering competitive products 
to our members, such as lower mortgage rates and 
higher deposit rates. We also give back to members 
who are suffering through hardships.  

In the past year, we’ve also shown continued, strong 
support to the community through key cultural 
institutions and sporting relationships. We continue 
as the major partner of Police Legacy, which does 
critically important work in looking after the partners 
and children of deceased police officers and those 
in need. We’ve also continued our partnership with 
the Police Associations in NSW and the AFP, whose 
work representing the industrial interests and legal 
rights, and advancing the working conditions, of 
police members is second to none. On the sporting 
front, we were able to spend more time out and 
about supporting men’s and women’s police sport at 
grass roots and representative levels – teams from 
basketball to golf and touch footy, to name a few. It is 
our support of the growth of women’s sport that we 
are especially proud of. There is no better example 

Police Bank is continuing its 
technological and cultural 
transformation and we’re 
determined to get it right. We 
began this journey to set up 
the bank for the next 60 years, 
so that members’ children and 
grandchildren can experience 
our commitment to service – 
and community, too.  While 
our work is not yet complete, 
the past financial year and 
its outstanding results have 
brought us closer to being able 
to showcase the changes we’ve 
made to shore up our future.

C H A I R ’ S  R E P O R T

Preparing 
for the 
next 60 
years
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than the emergence of the NSW Police Rugby League 
women’s teams. In a few short years, they have 
demonstrated they’re a force to be reckoned with, 
dominating this year at interstate carnivals alongside 
huge wins from the men’s teams.

Our contribution to the community and members was 
once again enabled by solid financial results, which 
are largely a testament to the work of our staff and 
management team. We’re operating in one of the 
most competitive financial markets ever experienced, 
but we’ve been able to increase our surpluses and 
improve our balance sheet substantially. As low-rate 
fixed home loans have matured across the banking 
system, the competition has been, but Police Bank has 
managed to retain the vast majority of its members 
with mortgages. This is due to a combination of the 
incredible work of the team, who have personally 
contacted our members to talk to them about their 
home loans and financial needs, and how we can 
better serve them. Again, it’s a level of service that sets 
us apart from our competitors. 

During the year, we also continued our partnership 
with HOPE Housing, a shared-equity scheme that 
has been established to give frontline workers the 
opportunity to get into the property market. We’re 
proud to have been the first mutual in Australia to 
get behind a scheme like this and we look forward 
to seeing more Police Bank members realise their 
property dreams through the program in the future. 
We are working with HOPE to unlock additional 
opportunities for our members. 

As the Chair of your board, I’d like to take this 
opportunity to thank a few of our board members 
who have left us during the year. Former NSW 
Police Deputy Commissioner Nick Kaldas is leading 
the Royal Commission into Defence and Veteran 
Suicide. His commitment to this task is such that 
Nick couldn’t devote the time necessary to his Board 
responsibilities.  I thank Nick for his work with the 
Police Bank Board and wish him all the best in his 
work on such a critically important investigation. We 
also said goodbye to Board-appointed Directors 
Sharon Waterhouse and Julie Osborne. Sharon was 
a significant contributor to the board who brought 
strong banking experience to the table. She is 
departing after serving the maximum two terms.  
Julie led our risk committee as the chair and like 

Peter Remfrey
Chair
Police Bank Board

Sharon, brought an enormous amount of banking 
experience to the Police Bank board. She leaves us 
to take up a long-term position at another institution. 
Thank you, Sharon and Julie. We are currently in 
the process of recruiting for our vacant positions to 
ensure your board maintains the necessary skills and 
experience for our road ahead.  

I’d like to finish by thanking the Police Bank team for 
their tireless work. My fellow Board members Rob 
Redfern, Col Dyson, Dave Hudson, Justine Saunders 
and Pat Gooley, bring their extensive experience 
to provide professional oversight and direction to 
management with a laser like focus on the interests of 
our members. As I mentioned earlier, the competitive 
conditions in the banking sector are without precedent 
at the present time, with rising interest rates testing 
many Australian households and resulting in many 
switching to new institutions. The commitment of 
our staff to our members during this time has been 
astounding. The team has not also rallied for the police 
family but shown patience through our transformation 
and enthusiasm for their evolving roles. Our staff and 
our members are the reason Police Bank is in the 
excellent shape it’s in today, as it prepares for the next 
60 years. We look forward to continuing this journey 
with you over the coming 12 months. 



Police Bank is here 
for its members 
and its community. 
We now have the 
infrastructure in place 
to make it easier for 
you to bank with us, 
now and in the future.

by 
members
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We realised we needed to create a hybrid model, with 
cutting-edge technology to keep up with our retail 
banking counterparts and a strong and satisfied Police 
Bank team to support our transition. 

It’s my view that we can be successful only if we have 
the right kind of culture, and it became clear to me 
that we were lacking in some areas. Staff need to 
feel psychologically safe and supported to speak up 
when they see opportunities and risks in the business. 
Ultimately, this is how we grow, develop new products, 
retain talent, and better support our member base 
and community. 

While I acknowledge that staff culture is something 
that always needs work, we are making progress 
and I’ve seen examples of the strides we’ve made. 
Recently, a staff member told me they were 
considering leaving the financial services industry 
for good before they joined Police Bank. This 
staff member has now changed their mind and 
recommitted to the sector, thanks to their experience 
at Police Bank. Experiences like that are a key part of 
the reason we do what we do. 

We’re also here to serve our members, whether they’re 
growing their wealth, paying off their home loan, or 
facing financial difficulties. It’s no secret it’s been a 
difficult year for many of our members. The Reserve 
Bank lifted interest rates numerous times across 
the financial year. Like other lenders, it raised our 
costs and put us under pressure to lift our rates, too. 
However, we have been working with members to help 
them manage the situation and, where relevant, find 
new products that suit their changing needs.

Amid interest rate rises across Australia, I am pleased 
to report Police Bank has maintained a mortgage 
retention rate of above 90 per cent for our Fixed Rate 
Home Loan customers. This places us among the 
market leaders, at a time when hundreds of thousands 
of Australians are looking for better home loan deals. 

For the past few years, my team 
and I have been working behind 
the scenes to transform Police 
Bank into a member-focused 
institution of the future. We 
envisioned a customer-centric 
bank that merges technology 
with customer service to deliver 
on our members’ needs, both 
today and in several years’ time. 
Our transformation is now almost 
complete, and we will soon unveil 
a new technology-based way of 
banking with us. 

When we first decided it was time to modernise Police 
Bank, it was clear things weren’t working as well as 
they could. Our members told us it was becoming 
increasingly difficult to transact with us: We were 
using paper-based forms and clunkier processes that 
were designed for a different era. At the same time 
though, they said they wanted us to maintain our 
service standards, continue to operate branches and 
have human touchpoints available to support their 
borrowing and deposit journeys. 

C E O ’ S  R E P O R T

Becoming 
a bank of 
the future
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We believe one of the reasons members stick with us 
is because our bespoke approach to helping them 
navigate these difficult times. We have had a large 
volume of home loans mature in the past financial 
year and have worked hard to help members find a 
new product that suits their needs. While we can’t offer 
advice, we speak to our customers first, instead of just 
rolling them from a fixed-rate loan to our standard 
variable rate. We’ll continue to have these one-on-one 
conversations with our members over the next year, as 
more loans hit maturity. 

While higher interest rates have negatively affected 
many of our borrower members, our term deposit 
customers have benefited from strong returns on 
their products of choice. Again, we take a bespoke 
approach when it comes to term deposits and ask 
our members what they would like to do, rather than 
rolling them onto a new term. 

Throughout the year, we saw a lot of interest from 
members for the HOPE Housing program – a pilot 
we got involved in to partner essential workers with 
a co-funded home loan. Given the project was a 
pilot, the first phase had limited loans available, but 
we’re working with HOPE to try to get more of our 
members into housing through the scheme. Police 
Bank alone generated between $150m and $200m 
worth of interest. HOPE is now looking at getting 
further institutional and super fund finance to get 
more essential workers into homes, and we’ll keep you 
informed of the progress. 

As all our members will know, Police Bank also 
spends a lot of time and resources giving back to the 
community. Without COVID-related restrictions on 
travel or face-to-face contact, we’ve spent more of 
the past two years out supporting events, charities, 
sporting teams and not-for-profits. We’ve had a 
long relationship with Police Legacy and the Police 
Association and continue to support the men’s and 
women’s rugby league. Greg McKenna

CEO
Police Bank

2024 is Police Bank’s 60th anniversary, and we 
are not only going to celebrate that amazing 
milestone, we’re also releasing our new 
technology offering to show members that a 
community bank like Police Bank can offer – 
cutting edge technology, with the same great 
service from its team. Police Bank has been 
able to reach this point only because of the 
engagement of our members and staff. Through 
surveys and informal feedback, our members 
would tell us what we should improve and what 
we should retain. It’s helped guide us towards a 
new model of technology-driven service. Similarly, 
our staff have been bold in telling us where we 
can deliver a market-leading offering to best 
serve our customers. 

Police Bank is unashamedly here for its members 
and its community. We  are investing in the 
infrastructure to make it easier for you to bank 
with us, now and in the future.

Greg McKenna



We’re working 
hard today, 
to protect the 
financial security 
and wellbeing 
of our policing 
families for 
tomorrow.
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The period between now 
and Q3 2024 will be the most 
complicated and important 
transformation in the history 
of Police Bank.
Our strategy for the coming 
financial years is to deliver on 
our promises to our members 
by building the bank of the 
future for them.

Preparing 
for our  
‘Big Bang’ 
moment

Strategy
A look inside  
the most  
important time  
in Police Bank 
history



1 3

Discovery Phase 
The Discovery Phase is all about ensuring that our 
partners can build and deliver the kind of cutting 
edge, modern banking solution we know our teams 
and our members want

Design Phase 
Design Phase is under way and will continue 
as vendors conclude Discovery and use the 
outcome to finalise design prior to moving into 
the Build phase. With the bank’s ‘Adopt not Adapt’ 
strategy, we expect design to be more focused on 
configuration than development, which simplifies 
the overall process.

Build & Unit Testing 
Phase 
Build & Unit Testing Phase has been completed for 
the Core Banking System, with other systems to 
finalise Build by end December 2023. Unit testing 
is performed by the vendor during the Build phase 
to verify the environment is ready to move to the 
System Integration Testing (SIT) phase.

The backend core banking system changes 
and the implementation of our new frontend 
digital banking systems include:

•	 Temenos Core Banking System (CBS)

•	 Cards Management System (CMS)

•	 Payments System (PS)

•	 Financial Crime Mitigation System (FCM)

•	 Document Generation & Archiving 
System (DGAS)

•	 Reporting (Enterprise & Regulatory)

•	 Temenos Infinity Stack (Loan 
Origination, Mobile App, Internet 
Banking and Member Onboarding)

THE PLAN INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING KEY 
PHASES AND MILESTONES FOR EACH PROJECT 
STREAM WITHIN THE DELIVERY PROCESS:

CBS

CMS
E&R

TIS

DGAS

PS

FCM
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System Integration 
Testing (SIT) 
System Integration Testing (SIT) is the end-to-end 
testing of system integrations and data flows, to 
ensure that interdependencies are performing as 
expected. This phase will start in January 2024 and 
run through to April 2024.

Go Live Phase  
Go-live phase schedule calls for three dress 
rehearsals in May with Go-live and contingencies 
plan for June 2024. Once a successful 
implementation has occurred, there will be a two-
month period of Hyper Care to follow.

Each project stream will undergo a Risk Gate Review 
for approval to proceed from one phase to the next.

The eventual Go Live review will take into 
consideration any remaining issues and the 
recommendations of the Program Team. Any 
remaining issues at this point will be classified as 
fix forward and deemed not of material impact to 
operations nor to the Police Bank members.

User Acceptance  
Testing (UAT) 
User Acceptance Testing (UAT) will overlap the last 
month of SIT, running from March 2024 through to 
seeking business acceptance in May 2024.

Change Management  
Change Management is a key focus and is 
running in parallel to the technical delivery. 
The Change team has undertaken a Change 
Impact Assessment through consultation 
with multiple stakeholders across the bank’s 
various business units. Key activities under 
way are a revamp to the Communications Plan 
and communication media, plus a Training 
Needs Analysis.

What it means for you! 
We’ll keep you posted over the next nine 
months with regular updates from our CEO 
and communications teams. Most of the work 
will be behind the scenes with no impact 
on members. But, once we go live you’ll 
find us much easier to deal with. We’ll keep 
you posted so please keep an eye out for 
communications from Police Bank.

BUILT BY END DECEMBER 2023

REHEARSALS        GO LIVE



2023

2024

JUL

JAN

SEP

MAR

NOV

MAY

AUG

FEB

OCT

APR

DEC

JUN
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Discovery Phase

FINALISED

Build & Unit Testing Phase
BUILT BY END DECEMBER 2023

System Integration Testing (SIT)

REHEARSALS        GO LIVE

Testing (UAT)

User Acceptance

Go Live Phase
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Coming 
together 
for the 
community

Supporting a cross-section  
of police initiatives and  
sporting ventures

H I G H L I G H T



While Police Bank exists for its members, being 
there for the broader police community has been an 
important part of our role for almost 60 years. Each 
year, we reinvest a proportion of our profits in causes 
that matter to us and our members. These include 
financial support initiatives for officers and their 
families who are doing it tough, and sporting ventures 
that bring the community together and strengthen 
camaraderie. 

In 2022-23, we continued to support Police Legacy, 
which gives much-needed assistance to the families 
of officers who have died or become injured. When 
these tragedies occur, Police Legacy gives loved ones 
a place to turn at a dark time in their lives. In recent 
years, we’ve extended our support to the Tasmanian 
and Australian Federal Police arms of Legacy, in 
addition to the NSW branch. 

One of Police Legacy’s marquee events is the annual 
Blue Ribbon Ball, which Police Bank proudly sponsors 
each year. The event was first set up in 2002 to honour 
Constable Glenn McEnallay VA, who was tragically 
killed while on duty at age 26. More than 20 years later, 
the ball raises funds to help Legacy’s critical work. 

During the year, we also extended support to a 
number of events aimed at improving mental health 

support services. We were a platinum sponsor of the 
Heart to Heart Walk, which raised money for first 
responder mental health research. We also sponsored 
the Ride for Justice, which helps the Homicide Victims 
Support Group.  

Police Bank has always loved rallying behind the 
sporting community and in 2023, we continued that 
tradition by supporting several events and teams, 
including the NSW Police & Emergency Services 
Games and the men’s and women’s police rugby 
league. As a foundational sponsor of the women’s 
rugby league, we’ve been particularly proud to see the 
competition flourish throughout the year. Members of 
Police Bank have had the privilege to attend several 
games and tournaments across the year, including 
four days of football fun at Police Bank Cup in 
Tamworth. The level of skill on display was astonishing 
and reminded us why players are being recruited by 
professional rugby league clubs. 

When we attend regional and city events, we’re 
reminded of how sport and community work help to 
create stronger bonds between teams and colleagues. 
Over the next year, we’ll continue to find new ways to 
strengthen our connection to the community and give 
back where it counts. 
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“Each year, we 
reinvest a proportion 

of our profits in 
causes that matter 

to us and our 
members.”



Helping our 
members get 
through the tough 
times and plan  
for the future.

O U R  W H Y
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About Police Bank
Since its inception in 1964, Police 
Bank has been committed to its 
vision of making police officers’ 
lives easier with straightforward 
banking products delivered by a 
supportive team.

As a member-run institution specifically for the Police 
Force, we understand the pressures our members 
face and how important it is that they have the 
support they need as they move through the stages 
of their lives.

In keeping with our mission, Police Bank aims to bring 
the community together to foster an even greater 
sense of community through shared experience. We’ve 
done this through sponsoring and hosting events, 
from sporting festivals to dinners. We work with Police 
Legacy across three jurisdictions to help the families 
of members we’ve tragically lost. We also support 
individual members who have needed additional 
help with their finances through our partnerships with 
several Police Associations. 

In 2021, in acknowledgment of the need to bring the 
community together, we welcomed members from the 
Australian Federal Police, Border Force and Tasmanian 
Police Force to the Police Bank family. We believe 
there is no better time than now to unite a community 
performing similar functions in different states, with 
shared goals and frustrations. We will continue to 
foster these bonds in the next year. 
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In 2020, we announced plans to modernise Police 
Bank and we have continued this journey in 2022 
and 2023. It has led us to transition away from four 
underused branches towards a greater investment in 
online services. Our transformation into a member-
focused bank of the future is now almost complete 
and our new strategy is focused on bedding down our 
technology and supporting members in achieving their 
banking goals in a seamless way. 

We believe this puts us in the best position to serve 
our members into the future and stay competitive 
with the market on fees and interest rates. It also 
helps us continue to give back to the community and 
to individual members. Police Bank will always put 
members and their long-term financial wellbeing at 
the centre of all decision-making. 



Peter Remfrey was appointed as the 
Chair of the Police Bank Board on 28 
May 2020. Prior to his appointment 
as Chair, he was acting Chair and 
formerly Deputy Chair from December 
2018. Peter has been a Director of 
the Board since 2016. Peter was the 
Secretary of the Police Association of 
NSW from 1998 to 2018, and the Branch 
Administrator of the NSW Police Branch 
of the Police Federation of Australia 
from 1988 until 2018. Peter is a life 
member of the Police Association of 
NSW. He holds an Economics Degree 
(USyd) and undertook postgraduate 
studies at Harvard University. He is also 
a nationally accredited mediator and a 
graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. Peter is currently 
an advisor to the Premier on Industrial 
Relations reform. 

Robert Redfern has been a Director 
of Police Bank since 2013 and on 17 
December 2021 was appointed Deputy 
Chair of the Police Bank Board. Robert 
has had a distinguished career in 
policing, having held positions as Local 
Area Commander, Commander State 
Audit, Commander Legal Services, 
and Commander Workforce Safety. 
Robert is a Legal Practitioner of the 
Supreme Court of NSW and High 
Court of Australia, a member of the 
Law Society of NSW and a Graduate 
of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Robert was awarded the 
Australian Police Medal in 2002 and 
has also been awarded the National 
Medal and the Commissioner’s 
Commendation for Service. Robert’s 
academic qualifications include 
an Executive Master of  Public 
Administration with Merit (Sydney) 
and a Master of Studies (Applied 
Criminology and Management) 
(Cantab) as well as undergraduate 
degrees in Economics and Law.

Col Dyson was appointed to the Police 
Bank Board in 2012 and has served 
as the Deputy Chair of the Board. Col 
has had a distinguished career as a 
former Detective Superintendent of 
NSW Police, and Commander of the 
NSWPF Fraud and Cybercrime squad. 
He is a recipient of the Australian Police 
Medal, National Medal 2nd clasp, NSW 
Police Medal 6th clasp, and the National 
Police Medal. Col holds qualifications in 
management, personnel management, 
and corporate governance, and has 
completed strategic leadership and 
command development programs with 
the NSW Police Force.
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Col Dyson
Chair – Board Audit Committee
MEMBER OF: 
Board Risk Committee
DIRECTOR OF: 
Chelsea Wealth Management Pty 
Limited

Robert Redfern
Deputy Board Chair
MEMBER OF: 
Board Audit Committee
Board Risk Committee
Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee

Peter Remfrey
Board Chair
Ex-officio of all Committees

Your Board



Pat Gooley
Chair of the Board Risk Committee
MEMBER OF: 
Board Audit Committee  
Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee

Nick Kaldas
(until 26 May 2023)
MEMBER OF:
Board Risk Committee
Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee

Nick was appointed to Police Bank in 2020 
and has more than 35 years of policing 
experience, including almost a decade 
as the Deputy Commissioner of Police, 
commanding 14,000 staff and managing 
a budget of $2 billion. Nick was Director of 
Internal Oversight Services for the United 
Nations Relief and Works Agency (UNRWA) 
between 2016 and 2018, where he directed 
four divisions: Investigations, Audits, Ethics, 
and Evaluation. He managed about 35,000 
staff in Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, Gaza 
and the West Bank. Nick was appointed 
by the Federal Government to head 
up the Royal Commission into Defence 
and Veterans Suicide. He led the Joint 
Investigation Mechanism (United Nations/
OPCW) into the use of chemical weapons 
in the Syrian conflict in 2016 and he led 
the historic United Nations investigation 
into the assassination of Lebanese Prime 
Minister Hariri and 21 other murders. Nick is 
an advisory board member for Holdmark 
Property Group, Chair of the Multicultural 
NSW Advisory Board and a Senior Fellow 
at the Australian Strategic Policy Institute. 
He is a former member of the board of 
trustees for the Coptic Orthodox Diocese 
of Sydney and Affiliated Regions, and a 
former member of the board of directors 
of the Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW. Nick 
is a Member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors (MAICD).

Pat was appointed as a Director of Police 
Bank on 30 January 2021. Pat left the NSW 
Police Force in 2018 as an Inspector at Kings 
Cross after spending 23 years in the NSW 
Police Force. He is currently the Secretary 
of the Police Association of NSW. Pat held 
various positions on behalf of police, including 
Vice-President of the Police Association of 
NSW (2010-18), Assistant Secretary Legal 
Police Association of NSW (2016-18), and 
Trustee of the NSW Police Provident Fund 
(2017-present). He has been a Ministerial 
Appointee to the Police Superannuation 
Advisory Committee since 2008 and was a 
Ministerial Appointee of the Member Police 
Promotions Review Committee (2010-18). He 
is also an Executive Member and Trustee of 
Unions NSW, and the Australian Council of 
Trade Unions. Pat was admitted as a solicitor 
in NSW in 2008. He completed the Harvard 
Trade Union Program at Harvard Law School 
in 2016, and holds a Diploma of Policing. 
He has also undertaken various executive, 
director and management courses and holds 
a Graduate Certificate of Management from 
UNSW AGSM. Pat is a member of the Police 
Association of NSW, the Retired and Former 
Police Association of NSW, Law Society 
of NSW, and a Graduate Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors. Pat 
has been awarded the NSW Police Medal, the 
National Medal, the National Police Service 
Medal and the Humanitarian Overseas 
Service Medal. 
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David Hudson
Chair – Board Governance & 
Remuneration Committee
MEMBER OF:

Board Risk Committee

David Hudson has been a Director 
of Police Bank since November 2017. 
He is the Deputy Commissioner of 
NSW Police and has a distinguished 
service record, including as Deputy 
Commissioner for Investigations 
and Counterterrorism, Deputy 
Commissioner for Corporate 
Services, Commander of State 
Crime Command and Local Area 
Commander of Rosehill and Mt 
Druitt. David has been awarded the 
Australian Police Medal, the Police 
National Service Medal, National 
Service Medal 2nd clasp, Police 
Medal 5th clasp and Commissioner’s 
Commendation for Service. He holds 
a Master of Public Policy, and holds 
further qualifications in criminology 
and corporate governance.



Sharon Waterhouse
(until 26 September 2023)
MEMBER OF:

Board Audit Committee
Board Risk Committee

Justine Saunders
MEMBER OF: 
Board Governance & Remuneration 
Committee

Sharon Waterhouse was appointed 
as a Director of Police Bank on 26 
September 2019. Sharon has more than 
20 years’ experience in the health and 
financial services industries, across a 
range of Senior Executive and Non-
Executive Director roles. Sharon is 
CEO of Phoenix Health Fund. Sharon’s 
career includes previous executive 
roles with St George, Westpac, and 
Newcastle Permanent Building Society. 
She is a former Chair of University 
of Newcastle Services, former Chair 
of the Hunter Business Women’s 
Network, and founding member and 
former Non-Executive Director with 
the Lending Industry Initiative. Sharon 
has won many prestigious awards, 
including the Innovation Award for 
LIXI (Lending Industry Initiative) best 
business enabler, the FINSIA Williamson 
Scholarship Australian Institute of 
Banking & Finance, and Australian MIS 
Innovation Award. Sharon is a Fellow 
of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors (FAICD) and holds a Bachelor 
of Economics, Master of Business 
Administration and Master of Arts 
(Business Research).

Justine Saunders was appointed as a 
Director of Police Bank in 2021. She has 
been Deputy Chair of MensLink since 
2018. She has formerly held positions 
on the boards of Fortem and Women in 
Law Enforcement Strategy. Justine was a 
member of the Australian Federal Police 
from 1989, including ACT Chief of Policing 
from 2016-18. She led a workforce of 850 
staff, including operational, support and 
corporate functions, and managed shared 
services delivered by the national arm of 
the Australian Federal Police. She delivered 
policing outcomes, including emergency 
service responses, while also driving and 
implementing significant cultural and 
capability reforms aimed at developing a 
sustainable and effective policing service 
for the future. Justine commenced as a 
Deputy Commissioner with the Australian 
Border Force in October 2018, providing 
high-level strategic direction across all 
ABF operational activities, including ABF’s 
response to the COVID pandemic and the 
unprecedented closure of the international 
border. In December 2021, she became 
the Chief Operating Officer of Home 
Affairs and now leads the full suite of 
corporate and assurance services to the 
Department of Home Affairs and the ABF 
to support the achievement of government 
outcomes, including financial performance 
of a total budget of $7.4 billion, people 
and culture, integrity, security, assurance, 
health services and clinical assurance, 
property, procurement and contracts. 
Justine holds a Master of Leadership and 
Management (Policing), Bachelor of Social 
Sciences (Policing Studies) with Distinction 
and Graduate Certificate in Applied 
Management.
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Julie Osborne
(until 31 July 2023)
Chair – Board Risk Committee
MEMBER OF:

Board Audit Committee
DIRECTOR OF:

Chelsea Wealth Management  
Pty Ltd

Julie Osborne was appointed as a 
Director of Police Bank on 7 October 
2020 and has extensive experience 
across a range of sectors, including 
financial services, insurance and 
not-for-profit. Julie is Chair of the 
Boards of Assetinsure Pty Limited 
and Assetinsure Holdings Pty Limited. 
She is a Non-Executive Director 
on the Boards of Auto & General 
Insurance Company Limited, NSW 
Crown Holiday Parks Land Manager 
and the Woolcock Institute of Medical 
Research. Julie is a past member of 
the Summerland Financial Services 
Limited Board and the Starlight 
Children’s Foundation NSW Advisory 
Board. In her executive career, 
Julie was an Executive Director 
at Westpac Banking Corporation, 
where she led the structured finance 
business within the treasury division 
and served on various Westpac 
Group subsidiary companies in 
Australia and the United States. 
She has also consulted to the audit, 
assurance and risk consulting division 
of KPMG regarding its clients and 
markets initiatives in the financial 
services sector.



Greg McKenna
Chief Executive Officer

Rayna Heckenberg
Chief Risk Officer

Dr Leanne Ward
Chief Financial Officer

Nicholas Tseros
Chief Member Officer

Lyndall Bushell
Chief Information Officer

Denis Fuelling
Chief People and Marketing Officer
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D I R E C T O R S 

The names and details of directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are listed 
below. Note that the directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 

Peter Remfrey Robert Redfern

Colin Dyson David Hudson

Sharon Waterhouse (until 26 September 2023) Julie Osborne (until 31 July 2023)

Nick Kaldas (until 26 May 2023) Patrick Gooley

Justine Saunders

Refer to page 22 of the annual report for the particulars of the directors.

D I R E C T O R S ’  M E E T I N G S

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) 
held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director (while they were a  
director or committee member). During the financial year, 11 Board meetings, 4 Audit Committee meetings,  
4 Risk Committee meetings, 6 Governance & Remuneration Committee meetings, and 1 Nominations Committee 
meetings were held. 

DIRECTOR BOARD AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

RISK 
COMMITTEE

GOVERNANCE & 
REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

Peter Remfrey (Chair) 9 11 2 4 2 4 4 6 - -

Robert Redfern 11 11 4 4 4 4 6 6 1 1

Colin Dyson 11 11 4 4 4 4 - - - -

Patrick Gooley 11 11 - - - - 6 6 - -

David Hudson 8 11 - - 4 4 6 6 - -

Nick Kaldas 7 9 - - 2 3 3 5 - -

Julie Osborne 10 11 4 4 4 4 - - - -

Justine Saunders 11 11 - - - - 6 6 - -

Sharon Waterhouse 9 11 4 4 4 4 - - - -

The directors of Police Bank Limited (‘the Bank’) and its subsidiaries 
(hereafter referred to as ‘the Group’), submit their report with the 
financial report of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2023. 
In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the 
directors report as follows:
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Peter Remfrey was granted a leave of absence from 
the 29 July 2022 and 29 June 2023 Board meetings, 
as well as the October 2022 Committee meetings.

David Hudson was granted a leave of absence from 
the 30 September 2022, 25 May 2023 and 22 June 
2023 Board meetings.

Nick Kaldas was granted a leave of absence from 
the 29 July 2022 and 25 May 2023 Board meetings, 
as well as the October 2022 Committee meetings. 
Furthermore, Nick resigned from the Board on 26 May 
2023 and therefore did not attend any subsequent 
Board or Committee meetings.

Julie Osborne was granted a leave of absence from 
the 29 June 2023 Board meeting.

Sharon Waterhouse was granted a leave of absence 
from the 25 August 2022 and 25 May 2023 Board 
meetings.

D I R E C T O R S H I P  O F  L I S T E D  C O M P A N I E S 

None of the directors held a Directorship at listed 
companies in the 3 years immediately before the end 
of the financial year.				  

F O R M E R  P A R T N E R S  O F  T H E  A U D I T  F I R M

None of the directors held a former partnership 
position in an audit firm, or is a director of an audit 
firm, that is also the auditor of the Group.

R E M U N E R AT I O N  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  K E Y 
M A N A G E M E N T  P E R S O N N E L 

Information about the remuneration of key 
management personnel is disclosed in note 31. The 
term ‘key management personnel’ refers to those 
persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing, and controlling the activities of 
the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director 
(whether executive or otherwise) of the Group.

T R A N S A C T I O N S  W I T H  D I R E C T O R S  
A N D  K E Y  M A N A G E M E N T  P E R S O N N E L

Transactions with key management personnel are 
disclosed in note 31. 

S H A R E S  U N D E R  O P T I O N ,  I S S U E D ,  
O R  G R A N T E D  T O  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  
K E Y  M A N A G E M E N T  P E R S O N N E L

No options over unissued shares or interests in the 
Group were granted during or since the end of the 
financial year and there were no options outstanding 
at the date of this report. No shares have been issued 
as a result of the exercise of an option.

I N D E M N I F I C AT I O N  O F  O F F I C E R S  
A N D  A U D I T O R S 

During the financial year, the Group paid a premium 
in respect of a contract insuring the directors of 
the company, the company secretary, all executive 
officers of the company and of any related body 
corporate against a liability incurred as such a director, 
secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted 
by the Corporations Act.

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the end 
of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by 
law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or 
auditor of the Group or of any related body corporate 
against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

P R I N C I P A L  A C T I V I T I E S

The Bank is a member owned, mutual company, 
limited by shares and guarantee, which is incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. The Group’s registered 
office and principal place of business is 25 Pelican 
Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010. Police Bank Limited is 
a Bank operating as an Authorised Deposit taking 
Institution (“ADI”) regulated by APRA in accordance 
with the Banking Act 1959. 
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The Group is a for profit entity. The principal activities 
of the Bank during the year were the provision of retail 
financial services to members in the form of taking 
deposits and granting loans or other financial services 
as prescribed by the Constitution. No significant 
changes in these activities occurred during the year.

C H A N G E S  I N  S TAT E  O F  A F F A I R S 

There were no significant changes in the state of 
affairs of the Group during the financial year that are 
not otherwise disclosed in this report. 

E N V I R O N M E N TA L  R E G U L AT I O N 

The Group is not subjected to any significant 
environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

R E G U L AT O R Y  D I S C L O S U R E S

The disclosures required by Prudential Standard 
APS 330 Public Disclosure (namely, the Common 
Disclosure in Attachment A and the Regulatory 
Capital reconciliation) may be seen on the Group’s 
website at https://www.policebank.com.au/regulatory-
disclosures. 

R E V I E W  O F  O P E R AT I O N S

The Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) was $9.5 million for 
the year ended 30 June 2023 (FY22: $4.3 million). This 
result is a significant uplift year on year mainly as 
a result of the Reserve Bank of Australia increases 
in the cash rate during the year. However, excluding 
the investment of $3.5 million ($5.0 million before tax) 
in transformational initiatives during the year, the 
underlying NPAT was $13.0 million (FY22: $6.5 million), 
an increase of $6.5 million from prior year.

The investment in the transformational initiatives 
included $2.8 million ($4.0 million before tax) 
investment in systems and a further $0.7 million  
($1.0 million before tax) in additional staff employed to 
support the transformational program. 

A reconciliation of statutory NPAT, as presented in the 
financial statements, to underlying NPAT is as follows:

RECONCILIATION 2023 2022

$m $m

Net Profit After Tax 9.5 4.3

Transformation platforms (after tax) 2.8 1.5

Transformation personnel (after tax) 0.7 0.7

3.5 2.2

Underlying Net Profit After Tax 13.0 6.5

D I V I D E N D S

Dividends paid or declared by the Group since the 
end of the previous financial year was $nil (2022: $nil).  
Dividends paid to the shareholders of Chelsea Wealth 
Management Pty Limited was $nil (2022: $nil). Police 
Bank Limited is the majority shareholder of Chelsea 
Wealth Management Pty Limited. 

C A P I TA L  A D E Q U A C Y

As a mutual financial institution, the Group uses 
retained earnings as the major source of its capital. 
Therefore, maintenance of adequate capital over 
time depends on balancing profit after tax with 
growth in risk-weighted assets. The capital adequacy 
ratio in the financial year 2023 was 21.64% (18.58% 
in financial year 2022). This remains significantly 
above the minimum level required to be maintained 
as determined by the Board’s risk appetite and APRA 
Prudential Standards.

https://www.policebank.com.au/regulatory-disclosures
https://www.policebank.com.au/regulatory-disclosures


S E C U R I T I S AT I O N  T R U S T S 

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group 
took the decision to replace the PCU Trust Series 
2009-1 Security Trust with a new non-amortisation 
trust structure. The PCU-2009-1 Trust is in the process 
of being wound up to be deregistered with no 
balances remaining in this Trust as at 30 June 2023. 
On 6 December 2022, the Group established and 
registered a new trust, the PB Trust 2022-1R, which 
holds rights to a portfolio of mortgage secured loans 
to enable the Group to secure funds from the Reserve 
Bank of Australia if required to meet emergency 
liquidity requirements.

I M P A I R M E N T S

During the year, the Group ceased capitalisation when 
the requirements under the Group’s intangible assets 
accounting policy were no longer met. As part of the 
year-end assessment of the carrying value of assets 
(as required by AASB 136 Impairment of Assets), the 
Group has tested for an impairment and as a result the 
customer list have been fully impaired. The Group will 
continue to monitor and account for its investment in 
intangible assets going forward in accordance with its 
accounting policy. As a result, during the year ended 
30 June 2023, the Group recognised an impairment 
loss of $3.1 million on its intangible assets. Refer to note 
18 for more details.

G O I N G  C O N C E R N

The strength of the financial results for the year 
reflects the strong performance of the Group in a 
competitive market. Access to liquidity and capital 
have also been considered, with no indications 
of stress and facilities being available to provide 
for contingencies. The Board of Directors have 
therefore been able to assess that the Group 
remains a going concern.

S U B S E Q U E N T  E V E N T S

On 25 May 2023, the Board approved the purchase 
of the remaining 20% shares in Chelsea Wealth 
Management Pty Limited. The change in ownership 
structure presented an opportunity to enhance the 
integration of the business and improve financial 
performance with positive outcomes for the Bank. 
The purchase of the shares would not negatively 
impact on the overall operation of Chelsea Wealth 
Management or its performance from a financial 
standpoint but would change the ownership structure 
to being wholly owned by the Bank. The share 
sale agreement was executed on 21 July 2023 and 
therefore the subsequent changes are not reflected 
in the financial statements as of 30 June 2023 being 
a non-adjusting subsequent event. There has not 
been any other matter or circumstance occurring 
subsequent to the end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, 
the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in 
future financial year.

F U T U R E  D E V E L O P M E N T S 

The Group will continue with its investment in the 
transformational initiatives and the new core banking 
system in the year ahead. 
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Peter Remfrey
Director, Chair
Sydney, 30 October 2023

Robert Redfern
Director, Deputy Chair
Sydney, 30 October 2023

On behalf of the directors

P R O C E E D I N G S  O N  B E H A L F  O F  T H E  G R O U P

No person has applied for leave of the Court to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Group or interfere in 
any proceedings to which the Group is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group 
for all or part of those proceedings. The Group was not 
a party to any such proceedings during the year.

A U D I T O R ’ S  I N D E P E N D E N C E  D E C L A R AT I O N

The auditor’s independence declaration is included 
after this report on page 33.

R O U N D I N G - O F F  O F  A M O U N T S 

The Group is a company of the kind referred to in 
ASIC Corporations (Rounding in financials/Directors’ 
Reports) Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, 
and in accordance with that Corporations Instrument 
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial 
statements are rounded off to the nearest hundred 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

D E C L A R AT I O N

This directors’ report is made and signed in 
accordance with a resolution of directors made 
pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 



 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 
 
Quay Quarter Tower 
50 Bridge Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
 
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7000 

The Directors 

Police Bank Limited and its Controlled Entities 

25 Pelican Street, Surry Hills 

Sydney NSW 2000 

 

30 October 2023 

 

Dear Directors, 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to Police Bank Limited and its Controlled Entities 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration 
of independence to the Directors of Police Bank Limited and its Controlled Entities. 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Police Bank Limited and its Controlled Entities for the 
year ended 30 June 2023, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

• The auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

• Any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Mark Lumsden 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  P R O F I T  O R  L O S S  A N D  O T H E R  
C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E  

For the year ended 30 June 2023

GROUP BANK

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Income

Interest income 2 99.5 56.5 99.5 56.5

Interest expense 3 (29.8) (7.8) (29.8) (7.8)

Net interest income 69.7 48.7 69.7 48.7

Non‐interest income 4 7.5 8.3 4.8 5.6

Total income 77.2 57.0 74.5 54.3

Expected credit loss, net of recoveries 5 (3.3) (0.3) (3.3) (0.3)

Expenditure

Employment expenses 6 (25.7) (25.3) (24.2) (23.9)

Operating expenses 7 (28.3) (22.5) (27.7) (21.7)

Depreciation and amortisation 8 (1.9) (2.5) (1.4) (2.2)

Total expenditure (55.9) (50.3) (53.3) (47.8)

Impairment loss on customer  
listing intangible assets

18 (3.1) – – –

Profit before income tax 14.9 6.4 17.9 6.2

Income tax expense 9 (5.4) (2.1) (5.3) (2.1)

Profit after income tax 9.5 4.3 12.6 4.1

Other comprehensive income/(expense), net of income tax

Movement in asset revaluation reserve 26 0.2 1.1 0.2 1.1

Movement in cash flow hedge reserve 26 (1.9) – (1.9) –

Movement in equity instrument revaluation reserve 26 (0.9) (0.5) (0.9) (0.5)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) (2.6) 0.6 (2.6) 0.6

Total comprehensive income for the year 6.9 4.9 10.0 4.7

Total comprehensive income attributable to 

Non‐controlling interests (0.6) – – –

Members of the parent entity 7.5 4.9 10.0 4.7

The above consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read 
in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial report. 
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

For the year ended 30 June 2023

GROUP BANK

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10 73.4 76.5 24.5 41.2

Trade and other receivables 11 6.7 4.1 6.5 3.8

Investment securities 12 468.5 485.1 468.5 485.1

Equity investment 13 8.5 9.7 8.5 9.7

Loans and advances 14 1,976.8 1,859.7 1,976.8 1,859.7

Investment in subsidiaries 15 – – 51.4 39.0

Property and equipment 16 18.0 18.7 18.0 18.6

Right‐of‐use assets 17 1.5 2.8 1.3 2.4

Intangible assets 18 – 3.5 – –

Other assets 19 2.8 2.5 2.8 2.4

Net deferred tax assets 9 1.3 – 1.2 –

Total assets 2,557.5 2,462.6 2,559.5 2,461.9

Liabilities

Deposits 20 2,093.2 2,107.2 2,093.2 2,107.2

Borrowings 21 219.0 122.8 219.0 122.8

Trade and other payables 22 15.4 11.4 15.4 12.2

Current tax liabilities 9 1.7 0.1 1.7 0.1

Derivative liabilities 25 2.7 – 2.7 –

Provisions 23 2.9 3.2 2.7 3.1

Lease liabilities 24 1.6 2.9 1.5 2.5

Net deferred tax liabilities 9 – 0.7 – 0.7

Total liabilities 2,336.5 2,248.3 2,336.2 2,248.6

Net assets 221.0 214.3 223.3 213.3

Equity

Reserves 26 58.1 60.7 58.1 60.7

Retained earnings 162.7 152.8 165.2 152.6

Equity attributable to the Group 220.8 213.5 223.3 213.3

Non‐controlling interests 0.2 0.8 – –

Total equity 221.0 214.3 223.3 213.3

The above consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the notes 
to and forming part of the financial report. 
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y

For the year ended 30 June 2023

GROUP RESERVES RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL NON-
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST

TOTAL 
EQUITY

Note $M $M $M $M $M

At 1 July 2021 63.5 146.1 209.6 0.8 210.4

Profit for the year – 4.3 4.3 – 4.3

Other comprehensive income 26 0.6 – 0.6 – 0.6

Total comprehensive income 0.6 4.3 4.9 – 4.9

Profit attributable to non-
controlling interest

0.3 (0.3) – – –

Transfer to general reserve (3.7) 3.7 – – –

Other – (1.0) (1.0) – (1.0)

At 30 June 2022 60.7 152.8 213.5 0.8 214.3

At 1 July 2022 60.7 152.8 213.5 0.8 214.3

Profit for the year – 9.5 9.5 – 9.5

Other comprehensive income 26 (2.6) – (2.6) – (2.6)

Total comprehensive income (2.6) 9.5 6.9 – 6.9

Loss attributed to non-controlling 
interest

– 0.6 0.6 (0.6) –

Other – (0.2) (0.2) – 0.2

At 30 June 2023 58.1 162.7 220.8 0.2 221.0

BANK RESERVES RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL NON-
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST

TOTAL 
EQUITY

$ M $ M $ M $ M $ M

At 1 July 2021 63.5 146.2 209.7 – 209.7

Profit for the year – 4.1 4.1 – 4.1

Other comprehensive income 26 0.6 – 0.6 – 0.6

Total comprehensive income 0.6 4.1 4.7 – 4.7

Transfer to general reserve 0.3 (0.3) – – –

Transfer to credit reserves (3.7) 3.7 – – –

Other – (1.2) (1.2) – (1.2)

At 30 June 2022 60.7 152.6 213.3 – 213.3

At 1 July 2022 60.7 152.6 213.3 – 213.3

Profit for the year – 12.6 12.6 – 12.6

Other comprehensive loss 26 (2.6) – (2.6) – (2.6)

Total comprehensive income (2.6) 12.6 10.0 – 10.0

At 30 June 2023 58.1 165.2 223.3 – 223.3

The above consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the notes 
to and forming part of the financial report. 
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T  
O F  C A S H  F L O W S

For the year ended 30 June 2023

GROUP BANK

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received 96.2 55.0 96.2 55.0

Other income received 7.1 7.1 4.4 4.4

Interest paid (29.8) (7.8) (29.8) (7.8)

Payments to suppliers and employees (50.3) (51.8) (49.8) (47.4)

Income tax paid (4.6) (1.5) (4.5) (1.4)

Cash flows from operating activities 
before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities

18.6 1.0 17.0 2.8

Net increase in funding of gross loans and 
advances

(119.9) (99.1) (119.9) (99.1)

Net (outflow)/inflow of deposits (14.0) 154.8 (14.0) 154.8

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from  
operating activities

34 (115.3) 56.7 (116.9) 58.5

Cash flows from investing activities

Movements in investments securities

Redemption of investments securities 305.5 416.1 305.6 416.1

Purchase of investment securities (288.2) (537.5) (288.2) (537.5)

Restricted cash outflow to securitised trust – – (12.3) –

Dividend received 0.4 1.2 0.4 1.2

Payments for property and equipment (0.4) – (0.4) –

Payments for intangible and other assets – – – –

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing 
activities

17.3 (120.2) 5.1 (120.2)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in borrowings advanced 95.8 40.0 95.8 40.0

Principal portion of lease payments (0.8) (1.1) (0.7) (1.0)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 95.0 38.9 95.1 39.0

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents

(3.1) (24.6) (16.7) (22.7)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year

76.5 101.1 41.2 63.9

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year

10 73.4 76.5 24.5 41.2

The above consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the notes to and 
forming part of the financial report.
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1.0	 Significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements are for the 
Group consisting of Police Bank Limited and its 
Controlled entities.

1.1	 Corporate information

Police Bank Limited and its Controlled Entities (“the 
Group”) is a reporting entity. The Group is a for-profit

disclosing entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements. The Group is a member owned, 
mutual company, limited by shares and guarantee, 
which is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
The Group’s registered office, address, and principal 
place of business is 25 Pelican Street, Surry Hills, 
NSW, 2010.

The nature of the operations and principal activities 
of the Group during the year were the provision of 
retail financial services to members in the form of 
taking deposits and giving financial accommodation 
as prescribed by the Constitution.

No significant changes in these activities occurred 
during the financial year.

1.2	 Basis of preparation

( I ) 	 H I S T O R I C A L  C O S T S  C O N V E N T I O N

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified 
by revaluations to fair value for certain classes of 
assets and liabilities as described in the accounting 
policies.

( I I ) 	 S TAT E M E N T  O F  C O M P L I A N C E

The financial report is a financial report which has 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”), the Banking 
Act 1959, and the Corporations Act 2001.

The preparation of a financial report in conformity 
with Australian Accounting Standards requires 
management to make judgements, estimates, and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, 
and expenses.

The Group’s financial report also complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
and interpretations adopted by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

The financial report for the year ended 30 June 
2023 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 30 October 2023.

( I I I ) 	P R E S E N TAT I O N  F O R M AT

The consolidated Statement of Financial Position has 
been prepared in order of liquidity.

( I V ) 	�F U N C T I O N A L  A N D  P R E S E N TAT I O N 
C U R R E N C Y

The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional 
and presentation currency.

( V ) 	 R O U N D I N G - O F F  O F  A M O U N T S

The Group is a company of the kind referred to in 
ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ 
Reports) Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, 
and in accordance with that Corporations Instrument 
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial 
statements are rounded off to the nearest hundred 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

( V I ) 	G O I N G  C O N C E R N

The financial report has been prepared on a going 
concern basis, which contemplates continuity of 
normal business activities and the realisation of 
assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary 
course of business.

N O T E S  T O  A N D  F O R M I N G  P A R T  O F 
T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S 
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  J U N E  2 0 2 3
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1.3	 Basis of consolidation

( I ) 	 C O N S O L I D AT I O N

The Group consists of Police Bank Limited as the 
ultimate parent entity and its Controlled Entities. 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements of the Bank 
and its Controlled Entities (its subsidiaries). Control 
is achieved where the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the subsidiary and can affect those returns through 
its power over the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the 
Group’s Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income from the effective 
date of acquisition and up to the effective date 
of disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interests even 
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance.

( I I ) 	 S U B S I D I A R I E S

The key subsidiary of the Group is Chelsea Wealth 
Management. The Group owns 80% of the share 
capital and the investment meets the definition of 
control prescribed above. The Group is also a 100% 
beneficiary of the PB Trust 2022-1R and the PCU-
2009-1 Trust. Interests in subsidiaries are accounted 
for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity. 
Subsequent to year-end the Group purchased 
the remaining 20% shares in Chelsea Wealth 
Management Pty Limited. Refer to the subsequent 
events disclosed in note 37.

( I I I ) 	�T R A N S A C T I O N  E L I M I N AT E D  O N 
C O N S O L I D AT I O N

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies into line with those 
used by other members of the Group. All intra-group 
transactions, balances, income, and expenses are 
eliminated in full on consolidation. Refer to note 15 
for more details.

1.4	 Securitisation

( I ) 	 S E C U R I T I S AT I O N

Securitisation is the process of taking an illiquid 
asset, or group of assets, such as home loans, 
and transforming them into a liquid security. The 
Group uses securitisation for funding and liquidity 
purposes.

Details of each of the securitisations entered into by 
the Group are summarised in note 15.

( I I ) 	 I N T E R N A L  S E C U R I T I S AT I O N

The Group maintains a securitisation trust, the PB 
Trust 2022-1R (the Trust), that issues notes that meet 
the Reserve Bank of Australia’s criteria for borrowing 
funds via Repurchase Agreements for emergency 
liquidity requirements or funding through the Term 
Funding Facility (TFF).

The Group holds all notes issued by the Trust, 
manages the loans, and retains all residual benefits 
and costs of the portfolio. As the Trust meets the 
definition of a controlled entity and Police Bank 
Limited has not transferred substantially all of the 
risks and rewards to the Trust, the assigned loans 
are not derecognised in the financial statements of 
Police Bank Limited. The Group did not participate in 
securitisation other than internal securitisation.

( I I I ) 	�S E C U R I T I S E D  L O A N S  R E TA I N E D  O N -
S TAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

The Group enters into securitisation transactions 
in which it transfers financial assets that are 
recognised on its Statement of Financial Position. 
When the Group retains substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the 
transferred assets remain on the Bank’s Statement 
of Financial Position, however if substantially all of 
the risks and rewards are transferred, the Group 
derecognises the asset.

Value of loans which do not qualify for derecognition 
at 30 June 2023 was $421.9 million (2022: $265.8 
million). The value of restricted cash in the Trust as at 
30 June 2023 was $47.7 million (2022: $35.3 million).

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (continued)
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( I V )  T R U S T  C O N S O L I D AT I O N

During the year the Group created and registered 
a new trust, the PB Trust 2022-1R (the Trust), which 
holds rights to a portfolio of mortgage secured 
loans to enable the Bank to secure funds from 
the Reserve Bank of Australia if required to meet 
emergency liquidity requirements. The PCU-2009-
1 Trust is in the process of being wound up to be 
deregistered with no balances remaining in this Trust 
as at 30 June 2023.

The Group continues to manage these loans and 
receives all residual benefits from the Trust and 
bears all losses should they arise. Accordingly,

•	 The Trust meets the definition of a controlled 
entity; and

•	 As prescribed by Australian Accounting 
Standards, since Police Bank Limited has not 
transferred all risks and rewards to the Trust, 
the assigned loans are retained on the books of 
Police Bank Limited and are not derecognised.

Refer to note 15, for more details.

1.5	� New & revised Australian 
Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations

( I ) 	� N E W  A C C O U N T I N G  S TA N D A R D S  A N D 
A M E N D M E N T S  T H AT  A R E  E F F E C T I V E 
I N  T H E  C U R R E N T  F I N A N C I A L  Y E A R

New and revised standards and amendments to 
standards effective for the current financial year 
which have been applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements that are relevant to the Group 
include:

•	 AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and AASB 
2020-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current - Deferral of Effective 
Date

•	 AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements 
2018-2020 and Other Amendments

( I I ) 	� N E W  &  R E V I S E D  A U S T R A L I A N  A C C O U N T I N G  S TA N D A R D S  A N D  I N T E R P R E TAT I O N S 
O N  I S S U E  B U T  N O T  Y E T  E F F E C T I V E

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 
2023 reporting period are set out below and have not been early adopted by the Group.

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION EFFECTIVE FOR ANNUAL 
REPORTING PERIODS 
BEGINNING ON OR AFTER

EXPECTED TO BE INITIALLY 
APPLIED IN THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR ENDING

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and 
Definition of Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023 30 June 2024

AASB 2021-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Deferred Tax related to Assets and 
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

1 January 2023 30 June 2024

The Group has assessed the impact of these accounting standards and does not anticipate the implementation of 
the above standards to have a material impact on the financial statements.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .4 	 Secur i t isat ion (cont inued)
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1.6	� Critical accounting judgements 
and estimates 

( I ) 	� I D E N T I F I C AT I O N  O F  C R I T I C A L 
A C C O U N T I N G  E S T I M AT E S , 
J U D G M E N T S ,  A N D  A S S U M P T I O N S

The following are the key assumptions concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, 
which require critical accounting judgements and 
estimates:

( I I ) 	� E X P E C T E D  C R E D I T  L O S S E S  O N  L O A N S 
A N D  A D V A N C E S

Whilst the methodology utilised in determining the 
Group’s expected credit losses remains consistent 
with the prior period, there are a number of 
judgements and estimates made by management 
in relation to the underlying assumptions that are 
continuously reviewed and revised on a periodic 
basis which include, but are not limited to:

•	 Probability of default, loss given default and 
exposure at default estimates;

•	 Forward-looking macroeconomic conditions; 
and

•	 Macroeconomic scenario weightings and 
management overlays.

Further detail on the methodology and assumptions 
is provided in note 14.

( I I I ) 	�F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T  A N D 
V A L U AT I O N  P R O C E S S E S

Land, equity instruments and derivates are held 
at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI) for financial reporting purposes. The 
directors consider the impact of market movements 
on the carrying amount of the asset and where a 
material difference is likely a formal valuation is 
undertaken. 

The directors either uses market observable data, 
to the extent it is available, or engages independent 
valuers who uses appropriate valuation techniques 
and unobservable inputs to arrive at fair value. 
Information about the valuation techniques and 
inputs used in determining the fair value of various 
assets are disclosed in the relevant notes. 

1.7	 Interest income

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N 

Interest income is recognised, in the consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income, as it accrues, using the 
effective interest rate method, in accordance with 
AASB 9 Financial instruments. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the 
rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

( I I ) 	� I N T E R E S T  O N  L O A N S  A N D  A D V A N C E S , 
C R E D I T  C A R D S  A N D  O V E R D R A F T S

For loans originated after the introduction of the 
Consumer Credit Code on 1 November 1996, interest 
revenue on loans and advances is calculated on 
the daily balance outstanding and is charged in 
arrears to a customer’s account monthly. For loans 
funded before the introduction of the Consumer 
Credit Code, other than overdrafts, interest revenue 
is calculated in the initial month from the date the 
loan is advanced, and thereafter on the first day of 
the month on the opening balance. On completion 
of a loan, a full month’s interest is charged on the 
opening balance for the month in which the loan 
is finalised. For non-performing loans interest is 
charged to the account but is deemed to have 
insufficient certainty regarding recoverability to be 
recognised, and as such is held as ‘interest reserved’ 
and not recognised in the consolidated statements 
of profit and loss.

( I I I ) 	�I N T E R E S T  O N  C A S H  A N D  C A S H 
E Q U I V A L E N T S  A N D  I N V E S T M E N T 
S E C U R I T I E S

Interest on receivables from investment securities 
are recognised on an effective interest rate basis.

( I V ) 	�I N T E R E S T  O N  C A S H  AT  B A N K  A N D 
S H O R T-T E R M  D E P O S I T S

Cash at bank earns interest at variable rates based 
on daily bank and short-term deposit rates. Interest 
is recognised in the consolidated statements of profit 
and loss using the effective interest method.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (continued)
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( I V )  D E F E R R E D  F E E S

Loan origination fees including broker commissions 
and transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or liability are recognised at inception and 
included in the carrying amounts. These fees and 
transaction costs are deferred over the expected 
life of the instrument according to the effective 
interest method. The effective interest method uses 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life 
of the instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset or liability. This applies to all financial assets 
or liabilities except for those that are measured at 
fair value through profit or loss or fair value through 
other comprehensive income. 

Refer to note 2, for more details.

1.8	 Interest expense 

( I ) 	� D E P O S I T S  W I T H  M E M B E R S , 
I N C L U D I N G  T E R M  D E P O S I T S 
F R O M  M E M B E R S  A N D  F I N A N C I A L 
I N S T I T U T I O N S 

Interest payable on the deposits are calculated 
on the daily balance outstanding and is credited 
in arrears. Interest expense is recognised in the 
consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income as it accrues, using the 
effective interest rate method.

( I I ) 	 L E A S E  L I A B I L I T I E S

Interest on the lease liabilities and any variable lease 
payments not included in the measurement of the 
lease are recognised in the consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in 
the period in which they relate. 

Refer to note 3, for more details.

1.9	 Non-interest income

( I ) 	 L O A N  F E E  I N C O M E

Loan fee income includes fees other than those that 
are integral to the lending arrangement whereby 

they are recognised as part of the effective interest 
rate method. Fee income primarily comprises of 
account transaction and monthly fees, processing 
fees, credit card fees and loan package and 
overdraft fees.

Fee income is either transaction based and therefore 
recognised when the performance obligation 
related to the transaction is fulfilled or related to 
performance obligations carried out over a period 
of time and therefore recognised on a systematic 
basis over the life of the agreement as the services 
are provided. Fee income is disaggregated where 
relevant to reflect the appropriate categories 
depending on the nature of the income and is 
recognised either over time or at a point in time 
where relevant.

( I I ) 	 C O M M I S S I O N  I N C O M E

Commission income which comprises commission 
on insurance, BPAY, foreign cash and international 
transactions is recognised when the performance 
obligation is satisfied. 

( I I I ) 	D I V I D E N D ’ S  I N C O M E

Dividend income is recognised as income on the 
date the Group’s right to receive payments is 
established.

( I V ) 	�R E N T  A N D  O T H E R  N O N - I N T E R E S T 
I N C O M E

Rent and other non-interest income are recognised 
as income when services are rendered. 

Refer to note 4 for more details.

1.10	�Write-offs and recoveries

( I ) 	� I M P A I R M E N T  E X P E N S E S ,  N E T  O F 
R E C O V E R I E S

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the related ECL provision. Such assets are 
written off after all the necessary procedures have 
been completed and the amount of the loss has 
been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off reduce the amount of the 
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. Refer to note 5 for more details.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .7 	 Interest  income (cont inued)



N OT E S  TO  A N D  F O R M I N G  PA R T  O F  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  J U N E  2 0 2 3

4 3

1.11	� Employment expenses and 
entitlements  

( I ) 	� W A G E S ,  S A L A R I E S ,  A N N U A L  L E A V E , 
A N D  S I C K  L E A V E

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries 
and annual leave that are expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date represent 
present obligations resulting from employees’ 
services provided to reporting date and are 
calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 
remuneration wage and salary rates that the Group 
expects to pay as at reporting date including related 
oncosts, such as workers compensation insurance 
and payroll tax. 

Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits are 
expensed based on the net marginal cost to the 
Group as the benefits are taken by the employees.

Provision for employee benefits to wages, salaries 
and annual leave represent present obligations 
resulting from employees’ services provided up 
to the reporting date, calculated at discounted 
amounts based on expected wage and salary rates 
including related on-costs. 

( I I ) 	 S U P E R A N N U AT I O N  P L A N

The Group contributes on behalf of its employees 
into superannuation funds under normal 
conditions of employment, and in satisfaction 
of the requirements of the Superannuation 
Guarantee Scheme. Contributions are expensed 
as they are incurred. For the year ended 30 June 
2023, if an employee had not made another 
choice, the Group contributed to Australian 
Retirement Trust. The Group has no interest in this 
superannuation plan (other than as a contributor) 
and is not liable for either the performance or the 
obligations of the plan. 

( I I I ) 	�A N N U A L  L E A V E  A N D  L O N G  S E R V I C E 
L E A V E  P R O V I S I O N

A provision is recognised in the consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and the amount of the provision can be 
measured reliably. Provisions are measured at the 

present value of management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation.

Refer to note 6 and note 24, for more details.

1.12	� Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised when the Group 
has incurred the liability for goods and services 
purchased and costs can be reliably measured. Any 
amounts received as a reimbursement for costs 
incurred are offset against the relevant expense. 

Refer to note 7 for more details.

1.13	 Taxes

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 
tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the 
consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in 
which case it is recognised in equity. 

( I I ) 	 F R A N K I N G  C R E D I T S 

Any franking credits held by the Group are after 
adjusting for franking credits that will arise from the 
payment of income tax at the end of the financial 
year. 

( I I I ) 	C U R R E N T  TA X E S

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

( I V ) 	D E F E R R E D  TA X E S

Deferred tax is recognised using the consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position liability method, 
providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the 
temporary difference when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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( V ) 	 O F F S E T T I N G

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they intend to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

( V I ) 	I M P A I R M E N T  O F  D E F E R R E D  TA X E S

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date for impairment (recoverability) 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised. The Group has performed an assessment 
and did not identify an impairment under AASB 112 
Income taxes. 

( V I I )  TA X  C O N S O L I D AT I O N

The Group and its controlled entities have 
implemented the tax consolidation legislation and 
have formed a tax- group. The Group has entered 
into a tax funding agreement such that each entity 
in the tax- group recognises the assets, liabilities, 
expenses and revenues in relation to its own 
transactions, events and balances only. This means 
that:

•	 The parent entity recognises all current and 
deferred tax amounts relating to its own 
transactions, events and balances only;

•	 The controlled entities recognise current or 
deferred tax amounts arising in respect of their 
own transactions, events and balances;

•	 Current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
arising in respect of tax losses, are transferred 
from the controlled entity to the head entity as 
inter-company payables or receivables.

The tax- group also has a tax sharing agreement in 
place to limit the liability of the controlled entities 
in the tax- group arising under the joint and several 
liability requirements of the tax consolidation 
system, in the event of default by the parent entity to 
meet its payment obligations.

Refer to note 9, for more details.

1.14	Goods and services tax (GST) 

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

Revenue, expenses, and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST except where the GST incurred 
on the purchase of goods and services is not 
recoverable from the tax authority, in which case the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST. The net amount of GST receivable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included with other receivables or payables in the 
consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included on a gross basis in the 
statement of cash flows. The GST components 
of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority are presented as operating 
cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net 
of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority.

( I I ) 	 R E D U C E D  I N P U T  TA X  C R E D I T S

As a financial institution, the Group, is input taxed 
on all income except for income from commissions 
and some fee income. An input taxed supply is not 
subject to goods and services tax (hereafter, GST) 
collection and similarly the GST paid on related or 
apportioned purchases cannot be recovered. As 
some income is charged GST, the GST on purchases 
is generally recovered on a proportionate basis. In 
addition, certain prescribed purchases are subject 
to reduced input tax credits (RITC), of which 77.5% of 
the GST paid is recoverable.

1.15	Financial assets

( I ) 	� I N I T I A L  R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D 
M E A S U R E M E N T

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised 
on the date on which the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument, 
or, in the case of loans and advances, when funds 
are transferred to the members’ account. At 

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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initial recognition, the Group measures a financial 
instrument at its fair value plus or minus transaction 
costs that are incremental and directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument, 
such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of 
financial instruments carried at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL) are expensed in profit or loss.

( I I ) 	� C L A S S I F I C AT I O N  O F  F I N A N C I A L 
A S S E T S

Subsequent to initial recognition, the measurement 
of the Group’s financial assets is dependent on 
the business model in which it is managed and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics. The following

•	 At fair value (either through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)) or through 
profit or loss (FVTPL), and;

•	 At amortised costs; 

The Group measures financial assets at amortised 
cost if the financial asset is held within a business 
model with the objective to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows, and the 
contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding, unless the financial 
asset has been designated as FVTPL. The details of 
these conditions are outlined below.

Financial assets with contractual terms that meet the 
SPPI test and that are held within a business model 
where the objective is to both collect contractual 
cashflows and sell the financial assets are measured 
at FVTOCI with subsequent reclassification to the 
Statement of Profit or Loss unless the financial asset 
has been designated as FVTPL. Non-traded equity 
instruments have been designated at FVTOCI with 
no subsequent reclassification to the consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss. All other assets are 
measured at FVTPL.

( I I I ) 	�B U S I N E S S  M O D E L  A S S E S S M E N T

The Group determines its business model at the 
level that best reflects how it manages groups of 
financial assets to achieve its business objectives. 
While judgement is used in determining the business 
model, consideration is given to relevant, objective 
evidence including:

•	 The business purpose of the portfolio;

•	 The risks that affect the performance and the 
way those risks are managed;

•	 The basis on which the performance of the 
portfolio is evaluated; and

•	 The frequency and significance of sales activity.

( I V ) 	�T H E  S O L E LY  P A Y M E N T S  O F  P R I N C I P A L 
A N D  I N T E R E S T  ( ‘ S P P I ’ )  T E S T

The Group assesses financial assets to evaluate 
if their contractual cashflows are comprised of 
solely payments of principal and interest (the 
SPPI test). ‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is 
defined as the fair value of the financial asset at 
initial recognition and may change over the life 
of the financial asset (for example, if there are 
repayments of principal or amortisation of the 
premium/discount). ‘Interest’ for the purpose of 
this test is defined as the consideration for the time 
value of money and credit risk, which are the most 
significant elements of interest within a lending 
arrangement. Principal amounts include repayments 
of lending and financing arrangements, and interest 
primarily relates to basic lending returns, including 
compensation for credit risk and the time value 
of money associated with the principal amount 
outstanding. In contrast, contractual terms that 
introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks 
or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are 
unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not 
give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the amount 
outstanding. 

( V ) 	� R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T  O F 
F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  AT  A M O R T I S E D 
C O S T S 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost only 
if both of the following conditions are met:

•	 the asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.

The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by 
any expected credit loss allowance recognised and 
measured as described in Note 14. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in interest 
income using the effective interest rate method.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .15	 Financial  assets (cont inued)



N OT E S  TO  A N D  F O R M I N G  PA R T  O F  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  J U N E  2 0 2 3

POLICE BANK ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2023 4 6

Financial assets recognised and measured at 
amortised cost include: 

•	 Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash 
equivalents include cash on hand at branches, 
unrestricted balances held with other financial 
institutions and highly liquid financial assets 
with original maturities of three months or 
less and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in their fair value. These assets are 
generally used by the Group in the managing 
its short-term commitments. Restricted cash is 
cash held in the PB Trust 2022-1R as collateral 
for the trust. Cash and cash equivalents are 
carried at amortised cost in the consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position. Cash at bank 
earns interest at variable rates based on daily 
bank and short-term deposit rates. Interest 
is recognised in the consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss using the effective interest 
method. Refer to note 10 for more information.

•	 Trade and other receivables: The trade and 
other receivables are initially measured at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method, 
less any allowance for expected credit losses. 
This is assumed to approximate their fair value 
due to their short-term nature. The Group holds 
these assets in order to collect the contractual 
cash flows, and the contractual terms are solely 
payments of outstanding principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding. Refer to 
note 11 for more information.

•	 Investments securities: Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment securities are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, as these are held to collect the 
contractual cash flows solely from payments of 
principal and interest. The investment securities 
are assessed for impairment under the 
expected credit loss impairment model. Refer to 
note 12 for more information.

•	 Loans and advances: Loans and other 
receivables are debt instruments recognised 
initially at fair value, which represent the cash 
advanced to the member plus direct and 
incremental transaction costs on settlement 
date, when funding is advanced to the 
member. Transaction costs which are direct 
and incremental to the establishment of the 
loan are initially deferred as part of the loan 
balance and are amortised over the estimated 
expected life of the loan. The unearned income 
on the Group’s lending portfolio is brought to 

account over the life of the contracts. Loans are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost, which 
represents the gross carrying amount less 
allowances for credit losses. Impairment losses 
are recognised in accordance with the three-
stage expected credit loss (ECL) impairment 
model. Interest on loans and advances is 
recognised using the effective interest method. 
The estimated future cash flows used in the 
calculation of the effective interest rate include 
those determined by the contractual term of 
the asset, and includes all fees, transaction 
costs and all other premiums or discounts. Refer 
to note 14.

•	 Investment in subsidiaries: The Group’s 
investments in controlled entities are stated at 
cost. Refer to note 15.

( V I ) 	�R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T 
O F  A S S E T S  AT  F A I R  V A L U E  T H R O U G H 
O T H E R  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

A financial asset will be measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income if:

•	 The Group’s intent is to hold the asset in order 
to collect contractual cash flows and/or to sell 
the asset; and

•	 The cash flows solely represent principal and 
interest.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value 
including directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent measurement is at fair value with 
any revaluation gains or losses being included in 
other comprehensive income. Upon disposal, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is transferred to the 
consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income.

The following financial assets are classified at fair 
value through other comprehensive income:

•	 Equity investments: On adoption of AASB 9, 
the Group made an irrevocable election for its 
investment in Cuscal shares to be measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI). This investment is initially 
measured at fair value, including directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
measurement is at fair value with any changes 
in fair value recognised equity and in other 
comprehensive income and are not transferred 
to the profit or loss. When equity investments 
are de-recognised, the cumulative gain or 

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .15	 Financial  assets (cont inued)
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loss in equity is transferred from equity to 
the Group’s retained earnings. Fair value is 
determined using a range of ‘Level 3’ inputs, as 
set out in note 29, fair values. Dividends from 
equity instruments continue to be recorded as 
non-interest income within the profit or loss 
unless the dividend clearly represents a return 
of capital. Refer to note 13 and note 4, for more 
details.

( V I I )  �F A I R  V A L U E  T H R O U G H  P R O F I T  O R 
L O S S  ( F V T P L )

Financial assets that are not measured at amortised 
cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Equity 
financial assets are measured at FVTPL unless the 
Group irrevocably elects to present subsequent 
changes in the fair value in OCI. This election is 
made on an individual instrument basis and upon 
realisation of the equity instrument, the fair value 
gain or loss is transferred from a reserve account 
directly to retained earnings. The Group has made 
this election for its equity instruments. Refer to note 
26 reserves for more details.

( V I I I )  O F F S E T T I N G

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount presented in the consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position when, and only when, the Group 
has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends 
either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

( I X )  �S E C U R I T I E S  S O L D  U N D E R 
R E P U R C H A S E  A G R E E M E N T S

Securities sold under an agreement to repurchase 
with the Reserve Bank of Australia are not 
derecognised from the consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position and an associated liability is 
recognised for the consideration received. Refer to 
note 21 for information.

( X ) 	 M O D I F I C AT I O N S

A financial instrument is modified when its original 
contractual cash flows are renegotiated or 
modified. A financial instrument that is renegotiated 
is derecognised if the existing agreement is 
cancelled and a new agreement is made on 
substantially different terms or if the existing terms 
are modified such that the renegotiated loan is 
substantially different from the existing financial 

instrument. When the modification does not result 
in derecognition, a gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income as the difference between 
the financial instrument’s original contractual cash 
flows and the modified cash flows discounted 
at the original effective interest rate. Where the 
modification results in derecognition, a newly 
recognised financial asset is assessed to determine 
whether it is required to be classified as purchased 
or originated credit-impaired financial assets. Refer 
to note 14 for more details.

( X I ) 	�D E R E C O G N I T I O N  O F  F I N A N C I A L 
A S S E T S

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the 
contractual cash flows from the asset expire or it 
transfers its rights to receive contractual cash flows 
from the financial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.

1.16	� Allowance for expected credit 
losses

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

The Group applies a three-stage approach to 
measure the allowance for expected credit losses for 
the following categories of financial assets that are 
not measured at FVTPL:

•	 Financial assets at amortised cost;

•	 Equity instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income;

•	 Off-Statement of Financial Position loan 
commitments; and

•	 Financial guarantee contracts.

( I I ) 	 E X P E C T E D  C R E D I T  L O S S  M O D E L

This model measures credit loss allowances using a 
three-stage approach (Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 
3) based on the extent of credit deterioration since 
origination. Financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage 
2 are assessed for impairment collectively, whilst 
those in Stage 3 are subjected to either a collective 
or individual impairment assessment. The Group’s 
allowance for credit losses calculations are outputs 

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .15	 Financial  assets (cont inued)



N OT E S  TO  A N D  F O R M I N G  PA R T  O F  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  J U N E  2 0 2 3

POLICE BANK ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2023 4 8

of credit risk models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their 
interdependencies. The expected credit loss impairment model reflects the present value of all cash shortfalls 
related to default events either over the following twelve months or over the expected life of a financial asset 
depending on credit deterioration from inception. The allowance for credit losses reflects an unbiased, probability-
weighted outcome which considers multiple economic scenarios based on reasonable and supportable forecasts. 

STAGE RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT BASIS CRITERIA

Stage 1 Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since 
initial recognition of a financial asset, an amount equal to 12 months 
expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using 
a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those assets 
with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default 
corresponding to the remaining term to maturity is used.

All balance plus 1-29 days 
past due

Stage 2 Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since 
initial recognition of a financial asset, an amount equal to 12 months 
expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using 
a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those assets 
with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default 
corresponding to the remaining term to maturity is used.

30 to less than 90 days 
past due

Stage 3 Financial assets that are considered to be in default are included in this 
stage. Similar to Stage 2, the allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime 
expected credit losses.

90 or more days  
past due

( I I I ) 	�T R A N S F E R S  B E T W E E N  S TA G E S 

Transfers from stage 1 to 2 occur when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk and from 
stage 2 to 3 when credit impairment is indicated as 
described above. For assets in stage 2 or 3, loans 
can transfer back to stage 1 or 2 once the criteria for 
a significant increase in credit risk or impairment are 
no longer met.

( I V )  I N T E R E S T  I N C O M E  B E T W E E N  S TA G E S

The interest income is recognised on gross carrying 
amounts for financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage 
2, and gross carrying value net of provisions for 
financial assets in Stage 3.

( V ) 	� E X P E C T E D  L I F E

When measuring expected credit loss, the Group 
considers the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk. All 
contractual terms are considered when determining 
the expected life, including prepayment, and 
extension and rollover options. For certain revolving 
credit facilities, such as credit cards, the expected 
life is estimated based on the period over which the 
Group is exposed to credit risk and how the credit 
losses are mitigated by management actions

( V I ) 	D E F I N I T I O N  O F  D E F A U LT

The definition of default used in measuring expected 
credit losses is aligned to the definition used for 
internal credit risk management and regulatory 
purposes. The Group considers a financial 
instrument to be in default as a result of one or 
more loss events that occurred after the date of 
initial recognition of the instrument and the loss 
event has a negative impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the instrument that can be reliably 
estimated. This includes events that indicate:

•	 Significant financial difficulty of the member;

•	 Default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments;

•	 High probability of the borrower entering 
a phase of bankruptcy or a financial 
reorganisation;

•	 Measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from the loan or the underlying 
assets that back the loan.

The Group considers that default has occurred when 
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due, 
unless reasonable and supportable information 
demonstrates that a more lagging default criterion 
is appropriate. Impairment is recognised when it is 
determined that all principal and interest due are 
unlikely to actually be fully recovered.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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( V I I )  W R I T E - O F F  P O L I C Y

The Group writes off an impaired financial asset (and the related impairment allowance), either partially or in full, 
when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Where financial assets are secured, write-off is generally after 
receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of security. In circumstances where the net realisable value of any 
collateral has been determined and there is no reasonable expectation of further recovery, write-off may be 
earlier. In subsequent periods, any recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the provision for 
credit losses in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. 

( V I I I )  C A L C U L AT I O N  O F  K E Y  I N P U T S  T O  T H E  E X P E C T E D  C R E D I T  L O S S E S

The probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), and loss given default (LGD) inputs used to estimate 
expected credit losses are modelled based on macroeconomic variables that are most closely related with credit 
losses in the relevant portfolio. Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows:

INPUT DETAILS OF THE STATISTICAL PARAMETER

PD For accounting purposes, the 12-months and lifetime PD represent the expected point-in-
time probability of a default over the next 12 months and remaining lifetime of the financial 
instrument, respectively, based on conditions existing at the Statement of Financial 
Position date. For home loans, PD is calculated using a roll rate model incorporating 
historical movements of accounts between arrears buckets over the observation period. 
For all other portfolio segments, PD is calculated based on a historical assessment.

LGD Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition 
of a financial asset, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The 
expected credit loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 
months. For those assets with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of 
default corresponding to the remaining term to maturity is used.

EAD Represents the expected exposure at default. The Group derives the EAD from the current 
exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under 
the contract including amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying 
amount. For lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD includes the amount 
drawn, as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which 
are estimated based on historical observations and future expectations.

( I X ) 	�A S S E S S M E N T  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
I N C R E A S E  I N  C R E D I T  R I S K  ( S I C R )

The Group assesses whether there has been a 
SICR for exposures since initial recognition by 
comparing the current probability of default (PD) 
and the PD at the date of initial recognition. The 
assessment also considers borrower-specific 
quantitative and qualitative information including 
arrears status and hardship arrangements.

Quantitative models may not always be able 
to capture all reasonable and supportable 
information that may indicate a SICR. Qualitative 
factors may be assessed to supplement the 
gap. Examples of situations include changes in 
adjudication criteria for a particular group of 
members; changes in portfolio composition; and 
natural disasters impacting certain portfolios. 

With regards to delinquency and monitoring, 
there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit 
risk of the financial instrument has increased 
since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days overdue.

The Group uses an internal rating system 
for its exposures. All exposures have a rating 
assigned that reflects the probability of default 
of the member. SICR is evaluated based on 
the movement in the ratings of members. For 
example, a downgrade in the internal rating since 
origination will trigger a transfer to Stage 2. 

The thresholds used for PD migration are 
reviewed and assessed at least annually unless 
there is a significant change in credit risk 
management practices in which case the review 
is brought forward. 

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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( X ) 	 F O R W A R D - L O O K I N G  I N F O R M AT I O N

The approach to determining the expected credit losses includes forward-looking information which is primarily 
incorporating the general macro-economic conditions and its potential impact on our members and through the 
PD and LGD rates applied in our models. Details of these statistical parameters are as follows:

INPUT DETAILS OF THE STATISTICAL PARAMETER

Multiple 
forward-looking 
scenarios

ECLs are calculated by reference to information on past events, current conditions, and 
forecasts of future economic conditions. Multiple economic scenarios are incorporated 
into ECL calculation models. These scenarios are based on external sources where 
available and appropriate, and internally generated assumptions in all other cases. 
To capture any non-linear relationship between economic assumptions and credit 
losses, three scenarios are used. This includes a central base scenario which reflects the 
Group’s view of the most likely future economic conditions, together with an upside and 
a downside scenario representing alternative plausible views of economic conditions, 
weighted based on management’s view of their probability.

Forward-looking  
Macro-economic  
factors

In its models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward-looking economic information 
as inputs, such as; Economic data published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, 
including Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth, unemployment rates, Consumer Price 
Index (CPI). Forecasts published by the Reserve Bank of Australia, including interest (cash) 
rate and other external sources such as QBE, CoreLogic, Refinitiv (previously Thomson 
Reuters) for housing prices and outlooks.

Management overlays Due to the significant uncertainty in the forward-looking economic environment, the 
Group has incorporated a management overlay in its models, to reflect the potential 
losses that may not be fully captured within the model methodology. Overlays are 
determined based on a range of techniques including stress testing, benchmarking, 
scenario analysis and expert judgement. Overlays are subject to internal governance and 
applied as an incremental ECL top-up amount to the impacted portfolio segments.

Management focused the overlay provision on the following sections of the loan book:

•	 Home loans with LVR’s between 70% to 80% and no LMI insurance;
•	 Home loans with LVR >80% and no LMI insurance;
•	 Home loans currently on fixed interest rates that will revert to variable interest rates;
•	 Home loan hardship accounts; and 
•	 All other loan hardship accounts.

Refer to note 14, for more details.

1.17	� Property and equipment 

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, 
and impairment losses. Costs include expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition or 
construction of the item.

Land is shown at revalued amounts, being the fair 
value at the date of revaluation. Revaluations are 
performed with sufficient regularity such that the 
carrying amounts do not differ materiality from 

those that would be determined using fair values at 
the end of each reporting period. Any revaluations 
increases / decreases arising on the revaluation of 
land is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated within asset revaluation reserve. 

( I I ) 	 U S E F U L  L I V E S

All assets have limited useful lives and are 
depreciated through the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives. The estimated useful lives are between 
2.7 and 40 years.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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( I I I ) 	D E P R E C I AT I O N  R AT E S

Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition 
or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from 
the time an asset is completed and held ready for 
use. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed 
annually to ensure they appropriately reflect 
residual values and estimated useful lives. When 
changes are made, adjustments are reflected 
prospectively in current and future years only. The 
depreciation rates used for each class of asset are 
as follows:

CLASS OF 
ASSET

2023 2022 DEPRECIATION 
BASIS

Land - - -

Buildings 2.5% to 
18.75%

2.5% to 
18.75%

Straight line 

Equipment 2.5% to 
37.5%

2.5% to 
37.5%

Straight line 

Leasehold 
improvements

2.5% to 
37.5%

2.5% to 
37.5%

Straight line 

Land is an indefinite life asset and is not depreciated. 
Refer to note 8, for more details.

( I I I ) 	�I M P A I R M E N T  O F  P R O P E R T Y  A N D 
E Q U I P M E N T

Per AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, property and 
equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows relating 
to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific 
to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent 
cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-
generating unit. The cash generating unit is defined 
as Police Bank, as cash inflows from this cash 
generating unit are dependent on the Group’s total 
assets to generate these cash inflows for its banking 
business. A recoverable amount assessment has 
been undertaken to confirm that the carrying value 
of assets exceed their recoverable amount as at the 
end of the reporting year. 

For financial year ended 30 June 2023, no 
impairment indicators were noted (2022: none). 
Refer to note 16, for more details.

( I V ) 	�G A I N S  O R  L O S S E S  A R I S I N G  O N 
T H E  D I S P O S A L  O F  P R O P E R T Y  A N D 
E Q U I P M E N T 

Any gains or losses are determined as the difference 
between the disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the assets and are recognised in 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income within operating expenses. 

Refer to note 7, for more details.

1.18	� Right-of-use assets 

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the 
commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use 
asset is measured at cost, which comprises the 
initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as 
applicable, any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date net of any lease incentives 
received, and any initial direct costs incurred. 

( I I ) 	 L E A S E  T E R M

The Group determines the lease term as the non-
cancellable period of a lease together with both the 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease 
if it is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 
and the periods covered by an option to terminate 
the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to 
exercise the option.

Management considers all the facts and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive 
to exercise an extension option or not exercise a 
termination option. The assessment is reviewed 
if a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment 
and that is within the control of the lessee.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .17 	� Proper ty and equipment (cont inued)
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( I I I ) 	�S H O R T  T E R M  L E A S E S  A N D  
L O W - V A L U E  A S S E T S

The Group has elected not to recognise a right-
of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for 
short-term leases with terms of 12 months or less 
and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on 
these assets are expensed to profit or loss. Where 
the Group is a lessee, payments on operating lease 
agreements are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated 
costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are 
expensed as incurred.

( I V ) 	U S E F U L  L I V E S

The expected useful life of right-of-use assets are 
determined by reference to comparable owned 
assets or the lease term, if shorter. Material residual 
value estimates and estimates of useful life are 
updated as required, but at least annually. The 
estimated useful lives are between 3 and 8 years.

( V )  D E P R E C I AT I O N

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the unexpired period of the lease 
or the estimated useful life of the asset, whichever 
is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain 
ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease 
term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful 
life. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment 
or adjusted for any re-measurement of lease 
liabilities. Management considers all the facts and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive 
to exercise an extension option or not exercise a 
termination option. The assessment is reviewed 
if a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment 
and that is within the control of the lessee.

CLASS OF 
ASSET

2023 2022 DEPRECIATION  
BASIS

Right-of-use 
assets – 
Property 

12.5% to 
33.3%

12.5% to 
33.3%

Straight line 

Right-of-use 
assets – 
Vehicles

25% to 
33.3%

25% to 
33.3%

Straight line

Refer to note 8, for more details. 

( V I ) 	I M P A I R M E N T  O F  R I G H T- O F - A S S E T S

Under AASB 16 Right-of-use assets, the assets, are 
tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136 
Impairment of Assets. This replaces the requirement 
to recognise a provision for onerous contracts. 

The Group has tested its right-of-use assets for 
impairment on the date of transition and has 
concluded there is no indication the right-of-use 
assets are impaired. (2022: Nil)

Refer to note 17, for more details.

1.19	 Intangible assets 

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

Per AASB 138 Intangible Assets are identifiable 
non-monetary assets without physical substance. 
They are recognised only if it is probable that the 
assets will generate benefits to the Group and are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses.  

( I I ) 	 C U S T O M E R  L I S T S 

Customer lists acquired in a business combination 
are initially measured at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination 
is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following 
initial recognition, acquired intangible assets are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. The estimated 
useful lives was 18 years. 

( I I I )  S O F T W A R E 

Costs incurred in developing systems and acquiring 
software and licenses that will contribute future 
financial benefits are capitalised. These include 
external direct costs of materials and services 
and direct payroll and payroll related costs of 
employees’ time spent on the project. Software costs 
are amortised over its useful life.

Impairment and recoverable amount. The estimated 
useful live for software for the current and 
comparative year was 2.7 years. 

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .18	� R ight-of-use assets (cont inued)
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( I V )  A M O R T I S AT I O N  R AT E S

Intangible assets are amortised from the point at 
which the assets are ready for use on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

AMORTISATION RATE  
(% PER YEAR)

2023 2022

Customer lists 5.6% 5.6%

Software 37.5% 37.5%

Refer to note 8 depreciation and amortisation, for 
more details. 

( V ) 	 I M P A I R M E N T  O F  I N TA N G I B L E  A S S E T S

Subsequently, under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, 
the intangible assets are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 
is the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount 
rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. 

Assets that do not have independent cash flows 
are grouped together to form a cash-generating 
unit. The cash generating unit is defined as Police 
Bank, as cash inflows from this cash generating 
unit are dependent on the Group’s total assets to 
generate these cash inflows for its banking business. 
A recoverable amount assessment has been 
undertaken to confirm that the carrying value of 
assets exceed their recoverable amount as at the 
end of the reporting year. 

During the year, the Group ceased capitalisation 
when the requirements under the Group’s intangible 
assets accounting policy were no longer met. As 
part of the year-end assessment of the carrying 
value of assets (as required by AASB 136 Impairment 
of Assets), the Group has tested for an impairment 
and as a result the customer list have been fully 
impaired. The Group will continue to monitor and 
account for its investment in intangible assets going 
forward in accordance with its accounting policy. As 
a result, during the year ended 30 June 2023, the 
Group recognised an impairment loss of $3.1 million 
on its intangible assets. Refer to note 18 for more 
details. Refer to note 18 for more details.

1.20 Software-as-a-service (SaaS)

( I ) 	� P R E P A I D  S O F T W A R E - A S - A - S E R V I C E 
( S A A S )

SaaS arrangements are service contracts 
providing the Group with the right to access 
the cloud provider’s application software over 
a contract period. As such, the Group does not 
receive a software intangible asset at the contract 
commencement date. 

The accounting treatment of costs incurred in 
relation to SaaS arrangements are set out below: 

•	 Fee for use of application software and 
customisation costs are recognised as an 
operating expense over the term of the service 
contract; and 

•	 Configuration costs, data conversion and 
migration costs, testing costs, training costs 
and customisation costs are recognised as an 
operating expense as the service is received. 

Costs incurred for the development of software code 
that enhances or modifies, or creates additional 
capability to, existing on-premise systems and 
meets the definition of and recognition criteria for 
an intangible asset, are recognised as intangible 
software assets. Please refer to Note 18 intangible 
assets

( I I ) 	� J U D G E M E N T S  I N  D E T E R M I N I N G 
W H E T H E R  C O N F I G U R AT I O N  A N D 
C U S T O M I S AT I O N  S E R V I C E S  A R E 
D I S T I N C T  F R O M  T H E  S A A S  A C C E S S 

Implementation costs, including costs to configure 
or customise the cloud provider’s application 
software, are recognised as operating expenses 
when the services are received. Where the SaaS 
arrangement supplier provides both configuration 
and customisation services, judgement has been 
applied to determine whether each of these services 
are distinct or not from the underlying use of the 
SaaS application software. 

•	 Distinct configuration and customisation costs 
are expensed as incurred as the software is 
configured or customised (i.e. upfront); and 

•	 Non-distinct configuration and customisation 
costs are expensed over the SaaS contract 
term. Non-distinct customisation activities 
significantly enhance or modify a SaaS cloud-
based application. Judgement has been 

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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applied in determining whether the degree of 
customisation and modification of the SaaS 
cloud-based application is significant or not. 

( I I I ) 	�J U D G E M E N T S  I N  C A P I TA L I S AT I O N 
O F  C O N F I G U R AT I O N  A N D 
C U S T O M I S AT I O N  C O S T S  I N  S A A S 
A R R A N G E M E N T S

In implementing SaaS arrangements, the Group 
has developed software code that either enhances, 
modifies or creates additional capability to the 
existing owned software. This software is used to 
connect with the SaaS arrangement cloud-based 
application. Judgement is applied in determining 
whether the changes to the owned software 
meets the definition of and recognition criteria for 
an intangible asset in accordance with AASB 138 
Intangible Assets. During the financial year, the 
Group recognised $nil (2022 $nil) as intangible 
assets in respect of customisation and configuration 
costs incurred in implementing SaaS arrangements.

1.21	Other assets 

Other assets contain prepayment and security 
deposits. The other assets are stated at their 
amortised cost.

Refer to note 19, for more details

1.22	Financial liabilities

( I ) 	� C L A S S I F I C AT I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T 
O F  F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S 

The Group initially recognise deposits, borrowings 
and trade and other payables, on the date on which 
they are originated. All other financial liabilities are 
recognised on the trade date, which is the date on 
which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. A financial liability 
is measured initially at fair value and, for an item 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition 
or issue. The Group classifies its financial liabilities, 
other than loan commitments, as measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss.

I I ) 	� D E R E C O G N I T I O N  O F  F I N A N C I A L 
L I A B I L I T I E S

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its 
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled 
or expire.

Financial liabilities recognised and measured at 
amortised cost include:

•	 Deposits: Deposits comprise negotiable 
certificates of deposit, term deposits, saving 
deposits, and other demand deposits, securities 
sold under agreements to repurchase, 
unsecured guaranteed notes and secured 
borrowings. Deposits are recognised at 
inception at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs and subsequently at 
amortised cost. Interest and yield related fees 
are recognised in the profit or loss based upon 
the effective interest rate method. Interest 
payable on (term) deposits are calculated on 
the daily balance outstanding and is credited in 
arrears. Refer to note 20.

•	 Borrowings: The term funding facility is 
initially recognised at fair value less directly 
attributable transaction costs. The funding 
is subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method with any 
difference between the costs and redemption 
value recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings. 
Refer to note 21.

•	 Repurchase securities: securities sold under 
an agreement to repurchase with the Reserve 
Bank of Australia or major banks are not 
derecognised from the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position and an associated liability 
is recognised for the consideration received. 
Refer to note 21.

•	 Trade and other payables: Trade creditors 
and accruals represent liabilities for goods 
and services provided to the Group prior to 
the end of the financial year which are unpaid. 
Trade and other payables are stated at their 
amortised cost. Trade payables are non-
interest bearing and are normally settled on 
30-day terms Refer to note 22, for more details

•	 Provisions: A provision is recognised in 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position when the Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a 

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, and the amount of 
the provision can be measured reliably. 
Provisions are measured at the present 
value of management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation. 
The provision for make good costs represents 
the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made by the Group arising 
from its obligations as a lessee should the 
relevant lease not be renewed. The provision 
is calculated using estimated costs required 
to return leased premises to the condition in 
which they were initially provided, by using 
the Group’s cost of capital as at reporting 
date. The expected timing of the outflows is 
dependent upon whether the relevant lease is 
renewed. Refer to note 23.

1.30	�Lease liabilities 

( I ) 	 R E C O G N I T I O N  A N D  M E A S U R E M E N T

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement 
date of a lease. The lease liability is initially 
recognised at the present value of the lease 
payments to be made over the term of the lease, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. The carrying 
amounts are remeasured if there is a change 
in the following: future lease payments arising 
from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 
guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase 
option and termination penalties. When a lease 
liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the 
corresponding right-of-use asset, or to profit or loss 
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is 
fully written down. 

Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less 
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option 
when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain 
to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. 
The variable lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

( I I ) 	 I N C R E M E N TA L  B O R R O W I N G  R AT E

The incremental borrowing rate is calculated 
by interpolating or extrapolating primary and 
secondary market yields on the Bank’s domestic 
senior unsecured debt issuance (Negotiable 
Certificates of Deposit and Medium-Term Notes) 
for a term equivalent to the lease. If there are no 
issuances that mature within a reasonable proximity 
of the lease term, indicative pricing of where the 
Bank can price a new senior unsecured debt 
issuance for a comparative term will be used in the 
calculation. The Group has not entered into any new 
leases during the financial year.

Refer to note 24, for more details.

1.31	 Reserves

( I ) 	 G E N E R A L  R E S E R V E

The general reserve is a reserve created by the 
Board in accordance with the Constitution into 
which the Board may allocate funds. At the Board’s 
discretion the funds in the general reserve may be 
used for the business of the Group subject that the 
funds must not be distributed to Members except 
upon the winding up of the Group. 

( I I ) 	 R E D E E M E D  M E M B E R  S H A R E  R E S E R V E

The redeemed Member share reserve represents 
the value of redeemable preference shares 
redeemed since 1 July 1999. This is the value of 
these shares paid to Members and the balance 
of the account represents the amount of profit 
appropriated to the account. Share redemptions 
must be funded from profits.  

( I I I ) 	A S S E T  R E V A L U AT I O N  R E S E R V E 

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative 
net change in fair value of land, net of applicable 
income tax.

( I V ) 	�E Q U I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T  R E V A L U AT I O N 
R E S E R V E 

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net 
change in fair value of the investment in Cuscal 
shares until the investment is derecognised or 
impaired, net of applicable income tax.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
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( V ) 	 B U S I N E S S  C O M B I N AT I O N  R E S E R V E

Mergers with other mutual entities are accounted 
for by recognising the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the transferred entity on the Statement 
of Financial Position at their fair value at the date of 
the merger. The excess of the fair value of the assets 
taken up over liabilities assumed is taken directly to 
equity as a reserve.

( V I ) 	C A S H  F L O W  H E D G E  R E S E R V E

Derivative financial instruments are contracts, set 
between two or more parties, that derive their 
value from an underlying price, index or other 
variable, and include instruments such as interest 
rate swaps. All derivatives are recognised initially 
on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
at fair value and are subsequently measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, except where they 
are designated as a part of an effective hedge 
relationship and classified as hedging derivatives. 
Derivatives are presented as either assets or 
liabilities depending on fair value.

At inception of all hedge relationships the Group 
documents the relationship between the hedging 
instrument and hedged item, the risk being hedged, 
the Group’s risk management objective and strategy 
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout 
the hedge relationship. 

The Group has designated derivatives held as 
effective cash flow hedges with changes in the 
fair value recognised in the cash flow hedge 
reserve within equity. Amounts accumulated in 
the cash flow hedge reserve are transferred to 
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss in the 
event the instrument expires, is sold or otherwise 
when hedging criteria are no longer met. The 
portion of the hedge that is deemed ineffective is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss as the 
ineffectiveness arises.

Refer to notes 25 and 26, for more details.

1.32	Retained earnings

Represents the balance of accumulated profit or 
losses, attributable to equity holders of the Group, at 
the beginning of the financial reporting period and 
at the reporting date, and the changed during the 
period.

Refer to statement of changes in equity, for more 
details.

1.33	Non-controlling interest

The Group recognises a non-controlling interest in 
Chelsea Wealth Management Pty Limited at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets. Non-controlling 
interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are 
shown separately in the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position respectively. Refer to statement of 
changes of equity, for more details.

1.34	Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative information has 
been reclassified and repositioned for consistency 
with current year disclosures.

1 .0	 S ignif icant Account ing Pol ic ies (cont inued)
1 .31 	 Reser ves (cont inued)
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2.	 Interest income

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Loans and advances 79.9 51.9 79.9 51.9 

Investment securities 18.1 2.9 18.1 2.9 

Credit cards 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Overdrafts 0.5 0.6 0.5 0.6 

Novated leases – 0.1 – 0.1

Total interest income 99.5 56.5 99.5 56.5

3.	 Interest expense

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Member deposits 7.9 2.8 7.9 2.8

Term deposits from members 12.2 4.6 12.2 4.6

Wholesale funding 9.4 0.3 9.4 0.3

Interest rate swaps 0.2 – 0.2 –

Lease liabilities 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total interest expense 29.8 7.8 29.8 7.8

4.	 Non-interest income

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Loan fee income 6.0 6.0 3.3 3.3

Commission income 1.0 0.9 1.0 0.9

Dividend income 0.4 1.2 0.4 1.2

Rent income 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Other – 0.1 – 0.1

Total non‐interest income 7.5 8.3 4.8 5.6
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5.	 Expected credit loss, net of recoveries

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Expected credit loss provision charge 3.2 0.3 3.2 0.3

Bad debts written off 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2

Bad debts recovered (0.1) (0.2) (0.1) (0.2)

3.3 0.3 3.3 0.3

6.	 Employment expenses

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Employment expenses

Salary and salary related expenses 20.1 20.5 18.8 19.3

Payroll tax and superannuation expenses 3.1 2.9 3.0 2.8

Board and committee related expenses 0.4 0.8 0.4 0.7

Other employment expenses 2.1 1.1 2.0 1.1

Total employment expenses 25.7 25.3 24.2 23.9

7.	 Operating expenses

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Operating expenses

Transaction fee expenses 6.5 5.9 6.4 5.9 

Information technology expenses 11.1 6.7 11.0 6.7 

Professional and consulting expenses 3.6 4.3 3.6 3.9 

Marketing expenses 2.3 1.5 2.3 1.5 

Occupancy expenses 0.8 0.7 0.7 0.6 

General administration expenses 2.7 2.4 2.4 2.1 

Other operating expenses 1.3 1.2 1.3 1.1 

Net loss / (gain) on disposal of property and 
equipment

– (0.1) – (0.1)

Total operating expenses 28.3 22.5 27.7 21.7
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8.	 Depreciation and amortisation

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Depreciation

Buildings 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3

Equipment 0.3 0.9 0.3 0.9

Leasehold improvements 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1

Right‐of‐use property assets 0.6 0.4 0.5 0.4

Right‐of‐use motor vehicle assets 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total depreciation 1.5 1.8 1.4 1.8

Amortisation

Software – 0.4 – 0.4

Customer lists 0.4 0.3 – –

Total amortisation 0.4 0.7 – 0.4

Total depreciation and amortisation 1.9 2.5 1.4 2.2

9.	 Taxes

( I ) 	 I N C O M E  TA X  E X P E N S E S

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Profit before income tax 14.9 6.4 17.9 6.2

Income tax at 30% 4.5 1.9 5.4 1.9

Impairment loss on customer listing 1.0 – – –

Prior year adjustments (0.1) – (0.1) –

Non‐deductible expenses 0.1 – 0.1 –

Rebate on fully franked dividends (0.1) 0.2 (0.1) 0.2

Income tax expense 5.4 2.1 5.3 2.1

Income tax expense comprises:

Current income tax expense 6.4 0.7 6.3 0.7

Increase in deferred tax assets (0.8) (0.4) (0.8) (0.4)

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (0.2) 1.8 (0.2) 1.8

5.4 2.1 5.3 2.1
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( I I ) 	 C U R R E N T  TA X  A S S E T S  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

The current tax liability for the Group and Bank is $1.7 million (2022: $0.1 million). The liability represents the amount 
of income tax payable in respect of current and prior financial year due to the relevant tax authority. 

( I I I ) 	D E F E R R E D  TA X  A S S E T S  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

The deferred tax assets balance is comprised of temporary differences attributable to:

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Provision for impaired loans 2.5 2.6 2.5 2.6

Provision for employee entitlements 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.8

Derivative liabilities 0.8 – 0.8 –

Accrued expenses 1.1 – 1.1 –

Other 0.9 0.8 0.7 0.8

Total deferred tax assets 6.0 4.2 5.8 4.2

Set‐off of DTAs and DTLs (4.7) (4.2) (4.6) (4.2)

Net deferred tax assets 1.3 – 1.2 –

The deferred tax liabilities balance is comprised of temporary differences attributable to:

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Property and equipment – (0.1) – (0.1)

Finance leases – 0.1 – 0.1

Equity investment at fair value 4.6 4.8 4.6 4.8

Other 0.1 0.1 – 0.1

Total deferred tax assets 4.7 4.9 4.6 4.9

Set‐off of DTAs and DTLs (6.0) (4.2) (5.8) (4.2)

Net deferred tax (assets) / liabilities (1.3) 0.7 (1.2) 0.7

M O V E M E N T

Opening balance of net DTA/(DTL) (0.7) 0.7 (0.7) 0.7 

Recognised in profit or loss 1.0 (1.1) 0.9 (1.1)

Recognised in other comprehensive income 1.0 (0.3) 1.0 (0.3)

Closing balance of net DTA/(DTL) 1.3 (0.7) 1.2 (0.7) 

( V )  R E C O V E R A B I L I T Y  O F  T H E  D E F E R R E D  TA X  A S S E T S 

Deferred tax assets relating to unused losses and deductible temporary differences are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax 
asset can be utilised. Management assessed the recoverability of the temporary timing differences as at 30 June 
2023. As at 30 June 2023, the Group has no cumulative unused tax losses (2022: $nil), and no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised to reflect this (2022: $nil). The Group continues to realise taxable profits to utilise deferred tax assets 
and the Group has sufficient deferred tax liabilities to off-set deferred tax assets. As a result, management has not 
identified an impairment of the recoverability of the $1.3 million temporary timing differences as at 30 June 2023.

( I V ) 	

9. 	 Taxes (cont inued)
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10.	 Cash and cash equivalents

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Cash on hand 1.0 0.9 1.0 0.9

Cash at bank 12.2 5.3 11.0 5.3

Deposits at call 12.5 35.0 12.5 35.0

Restricted cash 47.7 35.3              – –              

Total cash and cash equivalents 73.4 76.5            24.5 41.2           

( I ) 	 R E S T R I C T E D  C A S H

Included within cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2023 is $47.7 million (2022: $35.3 million) on restricted cash 
for liquidity and expense reserve respectively. The restricted cash is held in the PCU 2009-1 (in the process of 
being wound up) and PB Trust 2022-1R (opened during the year), which is a self-securitisation trust established for 
liquidity purposes. No balances remain in the PCU 2009-1 Trust as at 30 June 2023. These restricted trust balances 
are therefore not available for general use by Police Bank Limited or its controlled entities

( I I ) 	 G U A R A N T E E S

Refer to note 30 for further details on financial guarantees in place during 2022 and 2023 in relation to cash and 
cash equivalents. 

( I I I ) 	M AT U R I T Y  P E R I O D

Refer to note 28 for the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk, the maturity profile of cash & cash equivalents and the 
expected credit loss provision in relation to deposits at call.

( I V ) 	F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents are not materially different to the carrying amount due to the short-
term nature of these instruments. Refer to note 29 for information on fair value measurement.
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11.	 Trade and other receivables

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Payment system clearing account 3.0 3.0 3.0 2.8

Income accruals 3.5 1.0 3.3 1.0

Sundry debtors 0.2                     0.1 0.2 –

Total trade and other receivables 6.7                      4.1 6.5 3.8

The trade and other receivables are short-term in nature and dependent on the terms and conditions of the related 
contract, where one exists. The receivables include transactions pending settlement. 

( I ) 	 M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E

The trade and other receivable amounts are expected to be recovered within the next 12 months. Refer to note 
28 for the liquidity risk, maturity profile and the expected credit loss provision in relation to the trade and other 
receivables. 

( I I ) 	 F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T

The fair value of trade and other receivables are not materially different to the carrying amount due to the  
short-term nature of these instruments. Refer to note 29 for information on fair value measurement.

12.	 Investment securities

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

State government or Territory Borrowings 45.0 35 .0 45.0 35 .0

Bank bills and certificates of deposit 66.3 150.2 66.3 150.2

Floating rate notes 357.5 299.9 357.5 299.9

Expected credit loss provision (0.3) – (0.3) –

Total investment securities 468.5 485.1 468.5 485.1

( I )  R E S T R I C T E D  I N V E S T M E N T  S E C U R I T I E S

The bank bills and certificates of deposits contains $20.8 million (FY22: $20.8 million), representing the Bank’s 
security deposit obligations with Cuscal Limited which are not available for use to the Group. Refer to Note 30 for 
further information on the Cuscal facility. 

( I I )  E X P E C T E D  C R E D I T  L O S S E S

The investment securities are denominated in Australian Dollars and held with APRA regulated Australian financial 
institutions. These receivables are considered to meet the definition of a low-risk investment and have been 
considered on this basis for the allowance for credit losses. All investments are in Stage 1 for the expected credit 
loss provisioning purposes. 
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The table below represents the reconciliation of opening balance to closing balance of expected credit loss:

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

Expected credit losses $M $M $M $M

Opening balance as at 1 July – – – –

Expected credit loss provision charge (0.3) – (0.3) –

Amounts written off, previously provided for – – – –

Closing balance as at 30 June (0.3) – (0.3) –

During the year, the Group recognised $0.3 million (2022: $nil) provision for expected credit loss. Refer to note 5, 
Expected credit loss and impairment, net of recoveries.

( I I I ) 	M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E

Refer to note 28 for the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk and the maturity profile of the investment securities.

( I V ) 	F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T

The Group’s business model for managing its financial assets in order to generate cash flows is to hold investments 
to maturity and collect the associated contractual cash flows. Investments are initially recognised at fair value, and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The fair value of investments held at balance date are disclosed within 
Note 29.

( V ) 	 I N V E S T M E N T S  P L E D G E D  A S  C O L L AT E R A L

As at 30 June 2023, the Bank has pledged $43.0 million (2022: $43.4 million) of floating rate notes as security. The 
notes are utilised as a collateral as part of entering repurchase agreements with the Reserve Bank of Australia or 
major banks through Interbank Repurchase Agreements. As a result, a portion of the investment securities balance 
is encumbered. Refer to note 21 borrowings, for more details.

13.	 Equity investment

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Shares in Cuscal Limited 8.5 9.7 8.5 9.7

Total equity investment 8.5 9.7 8.5 9.7

( I ) 	� D I S C L O S U R E S  O N  S H A R E S  V A L U E D  W I T H  U N O B S E R V A B L E  I N P U T S  F O R  C U S C A L 
L I M I T E D  ( C U S C A L )

Cuscal is an unlisted public company. Cuscal is an APRA authorised deposit-taking institution that supplies services 
to organisation’s which are primarily mutual banks and credit unions. Under Cuscal’s constitution there are no 
limitations as to who the Group may sell its shares to, however, Cuscal is primarily owned by mutual Authorised 
deposit-taking institutions (ADIs) and trading in its shares is very limited to other Cuscal eligible shareholders and 
information on such trading is not publicly available. 

The Group has designated the shares in Cuscal Limited at fair value through the statement of other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI) from 1 July 2019, because the investment is held to enable the Group to receive essential banking 
services, rather than with a view to profit on subsequent sale, and there are no plans to dispose the investment 
during the short term. These shares are not publicly traded and are not redeemable. 

12 . 	 Investment Secur i t ies (cont inued)
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( I I ) 	 M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E

The Group is not intending to dispose of these shares, and therefore does not mature. 

( I I I ) 	F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T 

Investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading are eligible for an irrevocable election at inception 
to be measured at FVTOCI. Subsequent movements in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Dividend from these investments continue to be recorded as other 
income within the profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents return of capital. 

The Group has determined the fair value of its shares in Cuscal using level 3 unobservable fair value techniques 
based on the latest audited financial statements, and recent share transactions using recent arm’s length 
transactions (if any). 

( I V ) 	D I S C L O S U R E S  O N  V A L U AT I O N  O F  S H A R E S

VALUATION 
APPROACH

UNOBSERVABLE 
INPUTS USED

FAIR VALUE 
AT 30 JUNE 
2023 

FAIR VALUE 
AT 30 JUNE 
2022

RELATIONSHIP OF 
UNOBSERVABLE 
INPUTS TO FAIR 
VALUE

$’000 $’000

Measurement of the value 
of the shares have been 
made with reference to 
the net asset, adjusted for 
goodwill and deferred tax 
assets, backing per share.

The value is taken 
from the most recent 
available audited financial 
statements from the 
organisation.

Cuscal

Net asset backing per 
share from 2023 audited 
financial statements. 

The majority of assets 
are disclosed at fair 
value, and for those 
assets disclosed at 
amortised cost, it would 
be reasonable to expect 
the fair value would be 
equivalent to cost. 

30 June 2023: 
$1.30 per share,
Total shares: 6,537,528 

30 June 2022: 
$1.48 per share
Total shares: 6,537,528 

8,519 9,671 An increase/decrease 
of 10% on the net asset 
backing per share would 
result in an increase/ 
decrease in the fair value 
by $0.85 million (2022: 
$0.97 million)

V ) 	 E Q U I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T  H E L D  AT  F V T O C I  R E S E R V E

During the year, the Group recognised $1.2 million of fair value losses (2022: $0.5 million loss) on equity investment 
at FVTOCI in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax. 

Refer to the reserve note 27.

( V I ) 	D I V I D E N D S  I N C O M E  F R O M  C U S C A L

During the year, the Group recognised $0.4 million (2022: $1.2 million) of fully franked dividends from investment 
securities at FVTOCI in profit or loss. Refer to the non-interest income note 4.

13 . 	 Equi ty Investment (cont inued)
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( V I I )  E Q U I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T  M O V E M E N T  R E C O N C I L I AT I O N

GROUP AND BANK

Reconciliation $M

Balance at 1 July 2021 10.3

Net change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income, gross of tax (0.6)

Balance at 30 June 2022 9.7

Balance at 1 July 2022 9.8

Net change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income, gross of tax (1.3)

Balance at 30 June 2023 8.5

14.	 Net loans and advances

( I ) 	 N E T  L O A N S  A N D  A D V A N C E S  H E L D  AT  A M O R T I S E D  C O S T

GROUP AND BANK 2023 2022

$M $M

Gross loans and advances 1,986.9 1,867.0

Less:

Expected credit loss (8.2) (5.1)

Deferred fees (1.9) (2.2)

Total net loans and advances 1,976.8 1,859.7

HOPE Housing Fund Management Limited (HOPE) 

During the year the Group partnered with HOPE Housing Fund Management Limited (HOPE) to create an Essential 
Worker Home Loan Scheme. Under the scheme a homeowner enters into a shared equity agreement with HOPE to 
share the capital cost of purchasing a home. On completion of the purchase of the property the title is transferred 
to the Homeowner. At 30 June 2023 8 loans have been advanced under the scheme with balances owing of $4.6 
million which is included in net loans and advances above.

Homeowners can buy back the proportionate value of the HOPE Investment, either partially or wholly, without the 
sale of the property. HOPE will not be a joint tenant, a tenant in common, or take any other equitable interest in the 
property except for a registered charge. 

Upon sale of the property, the homeowner incurs a personal obligation to pay to HOPE the sale proceeds from the 
property, proportionate to the HOPE Investment in the property, including the proportional share of any capital 
gain. From the Group’s perspective there is no change in the normal settlement process that applies to other loans.

The Group does not share in any of the capital gain or receives any additional proceeds under the scheme and 
as such there is no embedded derivative under AASB 9 Financial Instruments. These loans are also classified as 
standard loans under APS 112 Capital Adequacy: Standardised Approach to Credit Risk.

13 . 	 Equi ty Investment (cont inued)
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( I I ) 	 G R O S S  L O A N S  A N D  A D V A N C E S  B Y  P U R P O S E

GROUP AND BANK 2023 2022

Analysis by purpose $M $M

Home loans 1,905.7 1,781.2

Personal loans 57.8 64.9

Credit cards 14.7 14.6

Overdrafts 4.9 4.8

Finance Leases 0.2 0.9

Commercial loans 3.7 0.6

Gross loans and advances 1,986.9 1,867.0

( I I I ) 	G R O S S  L O A N S  A N D  A D V A N C E S  B Y  S E C U R I T Y

GROUP AND BANK SECURED 
AGAINST REAL 

ESTATE

SECURED BY 
OTHERS

UNSECURED

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Credit quality – security held against loans: $M $M $M $M $M $M

Home loans 1,905.7 1,781.2 – – – –

Personal loans – – 37.0 38.9 20.8 26.0

Credit cards – – – – 14.7 14.6

Overdrafts – – – – 4.9 4.8

Finance Leases – – 0.2 0.9 – –

Commercial loans – – – – 3.7 0.6

Total gross loans and advances 1,905.7 1,781.2 37.2 39.8 44.1 46.0

( I V )  C O N C E N T R AT I O N  O F  G R O S S  L O A N S  A N D  A D V A N C E S

GROUP AND BANK

Gross loans and advances by geographical concentration 2023 2022

$M $M

New South Wales 1,578.5 1,468.6

Australian Capital Territory 165.6 191.7

Tasmania 99.1 91.2

Others 143.7 115.5

Total gross loans and advances 1,986.9 1,867.0

Individual concentration

As at 30 June 2023 there was no loan to any individual member, which represents 10% or more of loans and 
advances (2022: none).

14 . 	 Net Loans and Advances (cont inued)
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Industry concentration

The Group has a customer or industry concentration of loans to Members who are predominantly employees in the 
NSW Police Force and the Australian Federal Police. This concentration is considered acceptable on the basis that 
the Group was formed to service these Members, and that the industry is an essential and stable industry. Should 
Members leave this industry the loans continue, and other employment opportunities are available to the Members 
to facilitate the repayment of the loans.

Concentration of loans and advances

In addition to the on-Statement of Financial Position credit exposure above there are approved but undrawn loans 
and credit limits. These comprise mortgage re-draws and credit lines, credit card and overdraft facilities:

GROUP AND BANK 2023 2022

Credit exposure to undrawn facilities: $M $M

Loans approved not yet funded 65.7 66.4

Undrawn credit limits and re-draw 56.3 59.6

Total undrawn facilities 122.0 126.0

( V ) 	 M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E

GROUP AND BANK 2023 2022

$M $M

Expected maturities within 12 months 188.9 171.6

Expected maturities greater than 12 months 1,788.0 1,688.1

Total net loans and advances 1,976.8 1,859.7

Refer to note 28 for the liquidity risk management and maturity profile of loans and advances. 

( V I ) 	F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T

Refer to note 29 for information on fair value measurement.

Allowance for expected credit losses

( I ) 	 E X P E C T E D  C R E D I T  L O S S E S

The table below represents the reconciliation of opening balance to closing balance of expected credit loss:

GROUP AND BANK 2023 2022

Expected credit losses for loans and advances $M $M

Opening balance as at 1 July (5.1) (4.8)

Expected credit loss provision charge (3.1) (0.3)

Amounts written off, previously provided for – –

Closing balance as at 30 June (8.2) (5.1)

14 . 	 Net Loans and Advances (cont inued)
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( I I ) 	 L O A N  T Y P E  B Y  C R E D I T  L O S S E S

The expected credit loss by class of asset is summarised in the following tables:

GROUP AND BANK GROSS CARRYING 
VALUE

EXPECTED 
CREDIT LOSS

CARRYING 
VALUE

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M $M $M

Home loans 1,905.7 1,781.2 (6.5) (2.8) 1,899.2 1,778.4

Personal loans 57.8 64.9 (1.1) (1.6) 56.7 63.3

Credit cards 14.7 14.6 (0.3) (0.5) 14.4 14.1

Overdrafts 4.9 4.8 (0.2) (0.2) 4.7 4.6

Finance Leases 0.2 0.9 – – 0.2 0.9

Total to households 1,983.3 1,866.4 (8.1) (5.1) 1,975.2 1,861.3

Commercial loans 3.7 0.6 – – 3.7 0.6

Total 1,986.9 1,867.0 (8.1) (5.1) 1,978.8 1,861.9

Undrawn credit commitments 122.0 126.0 (0.1) – 121.9 126.0

Total loans and advances 2,108.9 1,993.0 (8.2) (5.1) 2,100.7 1,987.9

( I I I ) 	C R E D I T  E X P O S U R E S  B Y  S E C U R I T Y

The expected credit loss by class of asset and security is summarised in the following tables:

GROUP AND BANK 2023 CREDIT EXPOSURE BY SECURITY IN $M

Loans and advances by 
expected credit loss and 
security

Gross 
carrying 

value

Expected 
credit loss

Carrying 
value

Secured 
against 

real estate

Secured 
by others

Unsecured

Home loans 1,905.7 (6.5) 1,899.2 1,899.2 – –

Personal loans 57.8 (1.1) 56.7 – 36.3 20.4

Credit cards 14.7 (0.3) 14.4 – – 14.4

Overdrafts 4.9 (0.2) 4.7 – – 4.7

Finance Leases 0.2 – 0.2 – – 0.2

Commercial loans 3.7 – 3.7 – – 3.7

Total 1,986.9 (8.1) 1,978.8 1,899.2 36.3 43.4

Undrawn credit commitments 122.0 (0.1) 121.9 74.9 0.2 46.8

Total loans and advances 2,108.9 (8.2) 2,100.7 1,974.1 36.5 90.1

GROUP AND BANK 2022 CREDIT EXPOSURE BY SECURITY IN $M

Loans and advances by 
expected credit loss and 
security

Gross 
carrying 

value

Expected 
credit loss

Carrying 
value

Secured 
against 

real estate

Secured 
by others

Unsecured

Home loans 1,781.2 (2.8) 1,778.4 1,778.4 – –

Personal loans 64.9 (1.6) 63.3 – 37.9 25.4

Credit cards 14.6 (0.5) 14.1 – – 14.1

Overdrafts 4.8 (0.2) 4.6 – – 4.6

Finance Leases 0.9 – 0.9 - – 0.9

Commercial loans 0.6 – 0.6 – – 0.6

Total 1,867.0 (5.1) 1,861.9 1,778.4 37.9 45.6

Undrawn credit commitments 126.0 – 126.0 76.2 0.3 49.5

Total loans and advances 1,993.0 (5.1) 1,987.9 1,854.6 38.2 95.1

14 . 	 Net Loans and Advances (cont inued)
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 ( I V )  A S S E T  C L A S S  B Y  S TA G I N G

An analysis of the Group’s credit risk exposure per class of loans and advances and stage before and after 
management’s overlay is reflected in the following table: 

GROUP AND BANK 2023 $M 2022 $M

ECL Staging Stage 1
12 

months

Stage 2
12 

months

Stage 3
12 

months

Total Stage 1
12 

months

Stage 2
12 

months

Stage 3
12 

months

Total

Home loans 0.5 0.2 0.4 1.1 0.4 0.1 0.3 0.8

Personal loans 0.5 0.1 0.3 0.9 0.2 – 0.4 0.6

Credit cards 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.1 – 0.1 0.2

Overdrafts 0.1 – 0.1 0.2 – – – –

Finance leases – – – – – – – –

Total to households 1.2 0.4 0.9 2.5 0.7 0.1 0.8 1.6

Commercial loans – – – – – – – –

Undrawn credit commitments 0.1 – – 0.1 – – – –

Management overlay 2.0 1.8 1.8 5.6 2.1 0.8 0.6 3.5

Total expected credit loss 3.3 2.2 2.6 8.2 2.8 0.9 1.4 5.1

( V ) 	 M O V E M E N T S  B Y  S TA G I N G

The table below represents the movement during the year on expected credit losses:

GROUP AND BANK LIFETIME ECL $M

Expected credit losses 2022 Gross 
Loans 
Stage 1

Stage 1 
ECL

Gross 
Loans 

Stage 2

Stage 2 
ECL

Gross 
Loans 

Stage 3

Stage 3 
ECL

Total 
Gross 
Loans

Total 
ECL

Opening Balance for 1 July 2021 1,760.5 2.5 2.1 0.7 5.3 1.6 1,767.9 4.8

Net asset origination 101.3 – (0.4) – (1.7) – 99.2 –

Transfers during 
the period to / 
(from)

Stage 1 (2.8) – 1.2 – 1.7 – 0.1 –

Stage 2 1.4 – (1.6) – 0.3 – 0.1 –

Stage 3 1.6 – 0.4 – (2.1) – (0.1) –

Net re-measurement on 
transfers between stages

0.2 0.3 – 0.2 (0.1) – 0.1 0.5

Movements due to risk parameters – – – – – – – –

Write-offs – – – – (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) (0.2)

Closing balance at 30 June 2022 1,862.0 2.8 1.7 0.9 3.3 1.4 1,867.0 5.1

GROUP AND BANK LIFETIME ECL $M

Expected credit losses 2023 Gross 
Loans 
Stage 1

Stage 1 
ECL

Gross 
Loans 

Stage 2

Stage 2 
ECL

Gross 
Loans 

Stage 3

Stage 3 
ECL

Total 
Gross 
Loans

Total 
ECL

Opening Balance for 1 July 2022 1,862.0 2.8 1.7 0.9 3.3 1.4 1,867.0 5.1

Net asset origination 121.6 – (0.1) – (1.4) – 120.1 –

Transfers during 
the period to / 
(from)

Stage 1 (5.8) – 2.9 – 3.0 – – –

Stage 2 0.4 – (0.6) – 0.2 – – –

Stage 3 0.0 – 0.2 – (0.3) – – –

Net re-measurement on 
transfers between stages

(5.4) 0.6 2.5 1.4 2.9 1.1 – 3.1

Movements due to risk parameters – – – – – – – –

Write-offs – – (0.1) – (0.1) – (0.2) –

Closing balance at 30 June 2023 1,978.2 3.4 3.9 2.3 4.8 2.5 1,986.9 8.2

Stage 1 ECL includes a provision of $0.1 million which relates to undrawn credit commitments (FY22: $nil).
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( V I ) 	C R E D I T  L O S S  S TA G I N G  B Y  S E C U R I T Y

The table below represents the stages by security in expected credit losses:

 

GROUP AND BANK SECURED 
AGAINST REAL 

ESTATE

SECURED BY 
OTHERS

UNSECURED

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Credit losses by security $M $M $M $M $M $M

Stage 1 2.4 2.5 0.3 0.1 0.7 0.2

Stage 2 2.0 0.9 0.1 – 0.2 –

Stage 3 2.2 0.9 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3

Total expected credit losses 6.5 4.3 0.6 0.4 1.1 0.4

( V I I )  L O A N  T O  V A L U E  B Y  S E C U R I T Y

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances to members in the form of mortgage interests over 
property, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. For certain residential mortgages, where the 
Loan to Value Ratio (LVR) is greater than 80%, lenders mortgage insurance contracts (LMI) are entered into in 
order to manage credit risk. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of 
borrowing, and generally are not updated except when a loan is individually assessed as impaired. 

The tables below provide information on credit exposures from loans and advances lending by stratifications 
of LVRs. The LVR is calculated as the ratio of the current balance of the loan to the most recent valuation of the 
collateral.

GROUP AND BANK SECURED AGAINST 
REAL ESTATE

SECURED BY 
OTHERS

UNSECURED

At 30 June 2023 Gross 
Carrying 
amount

ECL Gross 
Carrying 
amount

ECL Gross 
Carrying 
amount

ECL

Loan-to-value ratio (LVR) $M $M $M $M $M $M

<=20% 80.1 (0.2) – – – –

>20%<=40% 265.0 (0.6) – – – –

>40%<=70% 944.9 (2.1) – – – –

>70%<=80% 388.2 (2.2) – – – –

>80%<=90% 137.4 (1.0) – – – –

>90%<=100% 37.8 (0.3) – – – –

>100% – – – – – –

>FHLDS* 127.2 (0.1) – – – –

Secured by others & unsecured – – 37.0 (0.7) 91.4 (1.0)

1,980.5 (6.5) 37.0 (0.7) 91.4 (1.0)

*Loans issued under the federal government’s First Home Loan Deposit Scheme [FHLDS] by National Housing 
Finance and Investment Corporation (NHFIC) are guaranteed for any loan monies above 80% LVR.

The total carrying amount of loans with LVR’s greater than 70% that are disclosed above and not insured by 
lenders mortgage insurance contracts amounts to:

•	 LVR’s >70%<=80%: $310.3 million (2022 $301.9 million); and 

•	 LVR’s >80%: $137.8 million (2022 $146.6 million).
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GROUP AND BANK SECURED AGAINST 
REAL ESTATE

SECURED BY 
OTHERS

UNSECURED

At 30 June 2022 Gross 
Carrying 
amount

ECL Gross 
Carrying 
amount

ECL Gross 
Carrying 
amount

ECL

Loan-to-value ratio (LVR) $M $M $M $M $M $M

<=20% 68.4 (0.1) – – – –

>20%<=40% 237.6 (0.4) – – – –

>40%<=70% 805.5 (1.2) – – – –

>70%<=80% 383.4 (0.6) – – – –

>80%<=90% 175.9 (0.3) – – – –

>90%<=100% 61.3 (0.1) – – – –

>100% – – – – – –

>FHLDS* 125.3 (0.2) – – – –

Secured by others & unsecured – – 38.8 (1.0) 96.9 (1.3)

1,857.4 (2.8) 38.8 (1.0) 96.9 (1.3)

( V I I I )  A R R E A R S  B Y  S TA G I N G

Under the Group’s monitoring procedures, a significant increase in credit risk is identified before the exposure has 
defaulted and at the latest when the exposure becomes 30 days past due. The tables below provide an analysis of 
the amount of loans and advances by past due status:

GROUP AND BANK 2023 IN $M

Arrears by staging Gross 
Carrying 
amount

Current 1–29 
days

30–59 
days

60–89 
days

90+ days

Home loans 1,905.7 1,882.1 15.7 2.4 1.2 4.3

Personal loans 57.8 56.2 1.0 0.1 0.1 0.3

Credit cards 14.7 14.5 – 0.1 0.0 0.1

Commercial loans 3.7 3.7 – – – –

Total 1,981.9 1,956.6 16.7 2.6 1.3 4.7

GROUP AND BANK 2022 IN $M

Arrears by staging Gross 
Carrying 
amount

Current 1–29 
days

30–59 
days

60–89 
days

90+ days

Home loans 1,781.2 1,768.0 9.5 0.7 0.7 2.3

Personal loans 64.9 63.6 0.8 0.1 – 0.4

Credit cards 14.6 14.5 – – – 0.1

Commercial loans 0.6 0.6 – – – –

Total 1,861.3 1,846.6 10.4 0.8 0.7 2.8
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( I X )  P R O B A B I L I T Y  O F  D E F A U LT  ( ‘ P D ’ )  A N D  L O S S  G I V E N  D E F A U LT  ( ‘ L G D ’ )

Key assumptions and judgements adopted in estimating ECL are presented below. Details on the Group’s policy on 
determining these assumptions, including judgement involved are presented in note 1.

LOAN PURPOSE KEY ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS

Home loans and undrawn facilities All home loans are mortgage secured. The home loan book 
includes loans with loan-to-value ratios (LVR’s) greater than 70% 
that do not have Lenders Mortgage Insurance i.e. 

•	 $310.3 million or 83.5% of home loans with LVR’s >70%<=80%; 
and

•	 $137.8 million or 48.2% of home loans population >=80% LVR.
The absence of statistical relevant loss data on the Group’s 
portfolio makes it difficult to arrive at LGD, therefore, the Group 
has used data sourced from the four major Australian banks.

Personal loans, credit cards, overdrafts, 
finance leases, commercial loans and 
respective undrawn facilities

The Group has undertaken extensive review of credit losses 
incurred over the period till date, in order to determine PD and 
LGD and noted no significant change in losses in the current year 
especially given the insignificant write-offs

The following table reflects the split between modelled expected credit losses, forward looking inputs, and 
management overlays. Where there is increased uncertainty regarding the forward-looking economic conditions 
or limitations of the historical data used to calibrate the model to current stressed environments, overlays are 
typically used to address areas of potential risk not captured in the underlying provisions.

Expected credit loss provision
GROUP AND BANK 2023 2022

$M $M

Base modelled credit loss provision 2.6 1.9

Forward looking and management overlays

COVID-19 overlay – 3.2

Home loans with LVR’s >70%<=80% and no LMI insurance 1.4 –

Home loans with LVR’s LVR’s >80% and no LMI insurance 0.8

Fixed interest rate home loans that will revert to variable rates 2.0 –

Home loan hardship accounts 1.2 –

All other loan hardship accounts 0.2 –

Total expected credit loss provisions 8.2 5.1

S E N S I T I V I T Y  A N A LY S I S

The expected credit loss (ECL) provision calculation relies on multiple variables and is inherently non-linear and 
portfolio-dependent which implies that no single analysis can fully demonstrate the sensitivity of the ECL to 
changes in the macroeconomic variables. Furthermore, it is observed that a change to only one economic factor 
in isolation is not sufficient enough to capture the economic environment as a whole. When assessing loans on 
an individual basis for inclusion in stage 3 of the ECL, consideration is given to the counterparties’ willingness to 
meet their contractual obligations, the counterparties’ economic circumstances, their future prospects and the 
security provided.

F O R W A R D  L O O K I N G  A N D  M A N A G E M E N T  O V E R L A Y S

The Group has assessed a new overlay of $5.6 million as at 30 June 2023 (2022: $3.5 million) to provide for 
expected credit loss due to the significant uncertainty in the forward-looking economic environment, including the 
impact of rising interest rates and inflationary pressures. Overlays are determined based on a range of techniques 
including stress testing, benchmarking, scenario analysis and expert judgement. Overlays are subject to internal 
governance and applied as an incremental ECL top-up amount to the impacted portfolio segments.
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Management focused the overlay provision on the following areas at risk in the loan book:

•	 Home loans with LVR’s between 70% to 80% and no LMI insurance;

•	 Home loans with LVR >80% and no LMI insurance;

•	 Home loans currently on fixed interest rates that will revert to variable interest rates;

•	 Home loan hardship accounts; and 

•	 All other loan hardship accounts.

Refer to section (vii) Loan to value by security above for the allocation of the total expected credit loss provision.

The management overlay provided for in the prior year for the impact of COVID-19 has been released as the 
portfolio performance has improved with reduction in COVID related hardship accounts. 

F O R W A R D  L O O K I N G  A S S U M P T I O N S

The Group applies three alternative macro-economic scenarios (Base, Upside and Downside scenarios) to 
reflect unbiased probability-weighted range of possible future outcomes in estimating the Group’s total expected 
credit loss provisions. Management reviews the model monthly and adjusts the macro-economic outlook as the 
information become available. The Group formulated following three economic scenarios:

SCENARIO 
WEIGHTING

2023 2022 EXPECTATION

Base 50% 60% Where the Australian economy performs somewhat 
worse than forecasted by RBA.

Upside 5% 40% Where the Australian economy tracks broadly along 
the lines that the RBA has forecasted in terms of 
unemployment, growth, and inflation.

Downside 45% 0% Where the Australian economy performs significantly 
worse than forecasted by RBA.

Sources which may be considered when determining the economic scenarios including external information, 
economic data, and forecasts published by the Reserve Bank of Australia, Australian Bureau of Statistics, forecasts 
published by the four local major banks or other industry peers as well as sources such as QBE, CoreLogic housing 
outlooks and Refinitiv (previously Thomson Reuters). 

15.	 Investment in subsidiaries

The financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, and results of the following subsidiaries and trusts in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1. The parent entity of the Group is Police Bank Limited, a 
public company incorporated.

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Investment in Chelsea Wealth Management – – 3.7 3.7

Investment in PCU 2009‐1 Trust – – – 35.3

Investment in PB 2022-1R – – 47.7 –

Total investment in subsidiaries – – 51.4 39.0

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group reviewed the trust structure to replace the PCU Trust Series 2009-
1 Security Trust with a non-amortisation trust. The PCU-2009-1 Trust is in the process of being wound up to be 
deregistered with no balances remaining in this Trust as at 30 June 2023. On 6 December 2022 the Group created 
and registered a new trust, the PB Trust 2022-1R (the Trust), which holds rights to a portfolio of mortgage secured 
loans to enable the Group to secure funds from the Reserve Bank of Australia if required to meet emergency 
liquidity requirements. The values of the investments in respectively PCU 2009-1 Trust and PB 2022-IR Trust is 
disclosed as restricted cash, refer to note 10.
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Details of the material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of entity Principal  
Activity

Place 
incorporated

Proportion 
of ownership 
interest and 
voting power 
held by the 
Group per 
30/06/2023

Proportion 
of ownership 
interest and 
voting power 
held by the 
Group per 
30/06/2022

PCU 2009-1 Trust Securitisation trust Australia – 100%

PB Trust 2022-1R Securitisation trust Australia 100% –

Chelsea Wealth Management Pty Limited Financial planner Australia 80% 80%

I M P A I R M E N T  A S S E S S M E N T  O F  I N V E S T M E N T  I N  C O N T R O L L E D  E N T I T I E S

The investments in subsidiaries are held at cost. For each entity, the carrying amount of the investments in 
controlled entities is tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets as a single asset, by 
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, 
whenever application of AASB 9 Financial Instruments indicates that the investment may be impaired. 

M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E

Refer to note 28 for the maturity profile. 

F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T

Refer to note 29 for information on fair value measurement

 16.	 Property and equipment

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Land – at fair value 6.8 6.6 6.8 6.6

Buildings

At cost 11.1 11.1 11.1 11.1

Less: accumulated depreciation (2.6) (2.3)             (2.6) (2.3)           

Total buildings 8.5 8.8               8.5 8.8             

Total land and buildings 15.3 15.4             15.3 15.4           

Equipment

At cost 4.2 6.5 4.2 6.3

Less: accumulated depreciation (1.5) (3.4)             (1.5) (3.3)          

Total equipment 2.7 3.1               2.7 3.0            

Leasehold improvements

At cost – 2.3 – 2.3

Less: accumulated depreciation – (2.1)             – (2.1)           

Total leasehold improvements – 0.2               – 0.2            

Total property and equipment 18.0 18.7             18.0 18.6           
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M O V E M E N T S  I N  C A R R Y I N G  A M O U N T S

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property and equipment is set out below:

GROUP

Land Buildings Equipment Leasehold 
improvements

Total

At 1 July 2021 $M $M $M $M $M

Opening carrying value 5.1 9.4 2.6 0.3 17.4

Revaluation 1.5 – – – 1.5

Additions – – 3.4 – 3.4

Disposal – (0.3) (2.2) – (2.5)

Depreciation – (0.3) (0.8) (0.1) (1.2)

At 30 June 2022 6.6 8.8 3.1 0.2 18.7

At 1 July 2022

Opening carrying value 6.6 8.8 3.1 0.2 18.7

Revaluation 0.2 – – – 0.2

Additions – – 0.4 – 0.4

Disposal – – (0.5) – (0.5)

Depreciation – (0.3) (0.3) (0.2) (0.8)

At 30 June 2023 6.8 8.5 2.7 – 18.0

BANK

Land Buildings Equipment Leasehold 
improvements

Total

At 1 July 2021 $M $M $M $M $M

Opening carrying value 5.1 9.4 2.6 0.3 17.4

Revaluation 1.5 – – – 1.5

Additions – – 3.4 – 3.4

Disposal – (0.3) (2.2) – (2.5)

Depreciation – (0.3) (0.8) (0.1) (1.2)

At 30 June 2022 6.6 8.8 3.0 0.2 18.6

At 1 July 2022

Opening carrying value 6.6 8.8 3.0 0.2 18.6

Revaluation 0.2 – – – 0.2

Additions – – 0.4 – 0.4

Disposal – – (0.4) – (0.4)

Depreciation – (0.3) (0.3) (0.2) (0.8)

At 30 June 2023 6.8 8.5 2.7 – 18.0
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R E V A L U AT I O N  O F  L A N D

Land is held at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) for financial reporting purposes. The 
Board of Directors considers the impact of market movements on the carrying amount of the asset and where a 
material difference is likely a formal valuation is undertaken. The Board of Directors either uses market observable 
data, to the extent it is available, or engages an independent valuer who uses appropriate valuation techniques 
and unobservable inputs to arrive at fair value. 

The revalued land consists of freehold land, excluding any structural improvements, and has then been 
apportioned between building parcels. The freehold land represents the land parcel owned by the Group, at 25 
Pelican Street, Surry Hills, NSW, 2010. 

Management determined that these constitute one class of asset under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, based on 
the nature, characteristics, and risks of the freehold land. The valuations have been based on the current market 
value of freehold land, taking into consideration the sales of similar land in the area, and are categorised as Level 2 
in the fair value hierarchy.

A S S E T  R E V A L U AT I O N  R E S E R V E

An independent valuation was performed by the Valuer General of New South Wales in September 2022, which 
supports the carrying value. As a result, the Group recognised $203,386 (2022: $1,568,979) of fair value gains on 
land at FVTOCI in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, gross of tax. 

Had the Group’s land been measured on a historical cost basis, the carrying amount would have been $4.8 million 
(2022: $4.9 million).

The directors are satisfied that the outcome of these valuations adequately support the land value for the year 
ended 30 June 2023.

Refer to note 26, for more details.

17.	 Right-of-use assets 

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

Right-of-use – property $M $M $M $M

At cost 3.5 4.9 3.2 4.2

Less: accumulated depreciation (2.0) (2.2) (1.9) (1.9)

Total Right-of-use – property 1.5 2.7 1.3 2.3

Right-of-use assets – motor vehicles

At cost 0.1 0.6 0.1 0.6

Less: accumulated depreciation (0.1) (0.5) (0.1) (0.5)

Total right-of-use assets – motor vehicles – 0.1 – 0.1

Total right-of-use assets 1.5 2.8 1.3 2.4
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M O V E M E N T S  I N  C A R R Y I N G  A M O U N T S

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of right-of-use asset is set out below:

GROUP BANK

ROU Assets 
– property

ROU Assets – 
motor Vehicles

Total ROU Assets 
– property

ROU Assets – 
motor Vehicles

Total

At 1 July 2021 $M $M $M $M $M $M

Opening carrying value 3.1 0.2 3.3 2.6 0.2 2.8

Additions – – – – – –

Disposal – – – – – –

Depreciation (0.4) (0.1) (0.5) (0.3) (0.1) (0.4)

At 30 June 2022 2.7 0.1 2.8 2.3 0.1 2.4

At 1 July 2022

Opening carrying value 2.7 0.1 2.8 2.3 0.1 2.4

Additions – – – – – –

Disposal (0.6) – (0.6) (0.6) – (0.5)

Depreciation (0.6) (0.1) (0.7) (0.7) (0.1) (0.6)

At 30 June 2023 1.5 – 1.5 1.5 – 1.3

M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E

The Group leases 7 premises for its branches under agreements of an average of 10 years with lease termination 
dates ranging 2024 to 2028. On expiry, the terms of a new lease will be negotiated.

18.	 Intangible assets 

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

Software $M $M $M $M

At cost – 2.0 – 2.0

Less: accumulated depreciation – (2.0) – (2.0)

Total software – – – –

Customer lists

At cost 6.7 6.7 – –

Less: accumulated depreciation (6.7) (3.2) – –

Total Customer lists – 3.5 – –

Total intangible assets – 3.5 – –
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M O V E M E N T S  I N  C A R R Y I N G  A M O U N T S

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each intangible asset is set out below:

GROUP BANK

Software Customer 
Lists

Total Software Customer 
Lists

Total

At 1 July 2021 $M $M $M $M $M $M

Opening carrying value 0.4 3.8 4.2 0.4 ‐ 0.4

Additions – ‐ – – ‐ –

Disposal – ‐ – – ‐ –

Amortisation (0.4) (0.3) (0.7) (0.4) ‐ (0.4)

At 30 June 2022 – 3.5 3.5 – ‐ –

At 1 July 2022

Opening carrying value – 3.5 3.5 – ‐ –

Additions ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐

Impairment ‐ (3.1) (3.1) ‐ ‐ ‐

Amortisation – (0.4) (0.4) – ‐ –

At 30 June 2023 ‐ – – ‐ ‐ ‐

I M P A I R M E N T  O F  I N TA N G I B L E  A S S E T S

During the year, the Group ceased capitalisation when the requirements under the Group’s intangible assets 
accounting policy were no longer met. As part of the year-end assessment of the carrying value of assets (as 
required by AASB 136 Impairment of Assets), the Group has tested for an impairment and as a result the customer 
lists have been fully impaired. The Group will continue to monitor and account for its investment in intangible assets 
going forward in accordance with its accounting policy. As a result, during the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group 
recognised an impairment loss of $3.1 million on its intangible assets.  

19.	 Other assets

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Prepayments 2.7 2.4 2.7 2.3

Lease security deposits 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total other assets 2.8 2.5 2.8 2.4

M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E

Prepayments mature within 12 months and the security deposit on leased premises will mature between 
2024 and 2028.

18 . 	 Intangible assets (cont inued)
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20.	 Deposits

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Call deposits 1,304.9 1,447.5 1,304.9 1,447.5

Term deposits 625.5 600.3 625.5 600.3

Negotiable Certificates of deposit 152.1 57.4 152.1 57.4

Accrued interest payable on deposit 10.4 1.7 10.4 1.7

Withdrawable shares 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3

Total deposits 2,093.2 2,107.2 2,093.2 2,107.2

Interest on deposits is calculated in accordance with the terms of each deposit and brought to account on an 
effective yield basis. Unpaid interest is accrued and reflected as a component of total deposit balances.

I ) 	 C O N C E N T R AT I O N  O F  T E R M  D E P O S I T S

GROUP AND BANK 2023 2022

Term deposits by geographical concentration $M $M

New South Wales 560.5 538.8

Australian Capital Territory 20.5 18.9

Tasmania 15.0 16.4

Others 29.6 26.2

Total term deposits 625.5 600.3

Individual or collective concentration

There are no depositors who individually or collectively have deposits that represent 10% or more of total liabilities.

Industry concentration

Member deposits at balance date were received from individuals employed in the NSW Police Force and/or the 
Australian Federal Police. This concentration is considered acceptable on the basis that the Group was formed to 
service these Members, and that the industry is an essential and stable industry. 

Maturity profile

There were no defaults on interest and capital payments on these liabilities in the current or prior year. 

Refer to note 28 for the liquidity risk management and maturity profile of the deposits. 

Fair value measurement

Refer to note 29 for information on fair value measurement.
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21. Borrowings

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Repurchase securities – 40.0 – 40.0

RBA Term Funding Facility 33.8 82.8 33.8 82.8

Wholesale Term Deposit Funding 90.0 – 90.0 –

Interbank Repurchase Agreements 40.2 – 40.2 –

Floating rate notes 55.0 – 55.0 –

Total borrowings 219.0 122.8 219.0 122.8

Secured borrowings 74.0 82.8 74.0 82.8

Unsecured borrowings 145.0 40.0 145.0 40.0

Total borrowings 219.0 122.8 219.0 122.8

RBA Term Funding Facility

In 2020, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic and 
to stimulate the economy, the Reserve Bank of 
Australia (‘RBA’) provided Authorised Deposit-taking 
Institutions (“ADI’s”) access to the Term Funding 
Facility (“TFF”), a low-cost funding facility with a 
3-year term. There were no additional terms and 
conditions associated with the TFF, other than the 
pledging of securities that meet the RBA eligibility 
criteria, as collateral. The Group accesses this 
funding by entering into repurchase agreements 
(see below) with the RBA. 

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has:

•	 Drawn down $33.8 million (2022: $82.8 million) 
from the Facility;

•	 Interest is charged at a fixed rate of 0.10% for 
the $33.8 million drawn down portion of the 
facility; 

•	 This funding was made into 2 tranches that are 
repayable in March 2024 and May 2024.

•	 There were no defaults on interest payments on 
this liability in the current year.

Securities sold and under repurchase agreements

Repurchase agreements represents securities sold 
under repurchase agreements with the Reserve 
Bank of Australia and major banks. To access the 
TFF, the Group is required to pledge notes from its 
internal securitisation that met the RBA eligibility 
criteria as collateral.  The Group retains risks and 
rewards of these securities, and therefore does not 
derecognise these assets. The Group has pledged 
$43.0 million (2022: $43.4 million) of investment 

securities at face value as collateral as part of 
entering into repurchase agreements as at 30 June 
2023.

Wholesale Term Deposit Funding

The bank implemented a strategy during the year 
to obtain increased diversity of funding. The Bank 
chose to establish a presence with middle market 
and institutional counterparties. As at 30 June 2023, 
Wholesale Term Deposit Funding equated to $90 
million.

Interbank Repurchase Agreements

During the year the Bank expanded its repurchase 
arrangements to include major banks. By including 
major banks in our collateralised borrowing 
operations, it improved flexibility and allowed 
for efficient cashflow management. Interbank 
Repurchase Agreements are secured by the 
sale, with agreements to buy back bonds, for 
consideration of $40.2 million.

Floating Rates Notes (‘FRN’)

A$55 million three-year senior-unsecured FRN was 
issued on 21 November 2022. Interest is payable at 
a margin of 150 basis points over the 3 month BBSW. 
The FRN is repayable on 21 November 2025.

Maturity profile

Refer to note 28 for the maturity profile of the 
deposits. 

Fair value measurement

Refer to note 29 for information on fair value 

measurement.
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22. Trade and other payables

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Payment system clearing accounts 5.7 2.8 5.5 2.7

Accrued expenses 9.5 8.4 9.4 8.2

Intercompany payables – – 0.4 1.2

Sundry payables 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1

Total trade and other payables 15.4 11.4 15.4 12.2

Maturity profile

The (unsecured) trade and other payables are expected to be paid within the next 12 months. 

Refer to note 28 for the liquidity risk management and maturity profile of the trade and other payables. 

Fair value measurement

Refer to note 29 for information on fair value measurement.

23. Provisions

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Provision for annual leave 1.3 1.4 1.3 1.3

Provision for long service leave 0.5 0.6 0.4 0.6

Provision for leasehold make good 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.4

Sundry provisions 0.6 0.8 0.6 0.8

Total provisions 2.9 3.2 2.7 3.1

Movements in carrying amounts

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of provision is set out below

GROUP

Annual 
Leave

Long Service 
Leave

Leasehold 
make good

Sundry Total

At 1 July 2021 $M $M $M $M $M

Opening balance 1.3 1.4 0.5 0.7 3.9

Net provisions recognised 0.1 (0.8) (0.1) 0.1 (0.7)

Cash payments – – – – –

At 30 June 2022 1.4 0.6 0.4 0.8 3.2

Net provisions recognised/(utilised) – (0.1) 0.1 (0.2) (0.2)

Cash payments (0.1) – – – (0.1)

At 30 June 2023 1.3 0.5 0.5 0.6 2.9
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BANK

Annual 
Leave

Long Service 
Leave

Leasehold 
make good

Sundry Total

At 1 July 2021 $M $M $M $M $M

Opening carrying value 1.1 1.2 0.5 0.6 3.4

Net provisions recognised 0.2 (0.6) (0.1) 0.2 (0.3)

Cash payments – – – – –

At 30 June 2022 1.3 0.6 0.4 0.8 3.1

Net provisions recognised/(utilised) 0.1 (0.2) – (0.2) (0.3)

Cash payments (0.1) – – – (0.1)

At 30 June 2023 1.3 0.4 0.4 0.6 2.7

GROUP BANK

Maturity profile 2023 2022 2023 2022

By provisions $M $M $M $M

Current provisions within 12 months 1.4 1.5 1.3 1.5

Non-current provisions > 12 months 1.5 1.7 1.4 1.6

Total provisions 2.9 3.2 2.7 3.1

24.	 Lease liabilities

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Lease liabilities 1.6 2.9 1.5 2.5

Total lease liabilities 1.6 2.9 1.5 2.5

GROUP BANK

Maturity profile 2023 2022 2023 2022

By lease liabilities $M $M $M $M

Current provisions within 12 months 0.5 0.8 0.5 0.7

Non-current provisions > 12 months 1.1 2.1 1.0 1.8

Total lease liabilities 1.6 2.9 1.5 2.5

GROUP BANK

Lease liabilities reconciliation 2023 2022 2023 2022

By lease liabilities $M $M $M $M

Opening balance 2.9 4.0 2.5 3.5

Lease payments (0.8) (1.1) (0.7) (1.0)

Interest expenses 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Modifications (0.6) (0.1) (0.4) (0.1)

Balance at year end 1.6 2.9 1.5 2.5

F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T

Refer to note 29 for information on fair value measurement.

23 . 	 Provis ions (cont inued)
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25.	 Derivatives

The Group utilises derivative instruments in managing its exposure to risk. At inception of all hedge relationships, 
the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item, the risk being hedged, 
the Group’s risk management objective and strategy, and how effectiveness will be measured throughout the 
hedge relationship.

During the year the bank entered into two interest rate swaps respectively $100 million maturing on 27 January 
2026 and $50 million maturing on 17 February 2025. There were no hedging instruments as at 30 June 2022. 

Trading derivatives are not in a qualifying hedging relationship, and as such are measured at fair value through the 
profit or loss. The Group has not held any instruments treated as trading derivatives for the financial year ended 30 
June 2023.

	 H E D G E  I N E F F E C T I V E N E S S

The Group has designated all derivative instruments held into a highly effective hedging relationship across the 
variable lending book as outlined above. Hedge ineffectiveness may arise where the changes in variable cash flows 
arising from the derivative instruments significantly differ from the changes in cash flows arising from the hedged 
items. Potential sources of ineffectiveness mainly relate to differences in the repricing on the variable lending 
book, which is based off the cash rate against the derivative instruments which reprice on BBSW reference rate. No 
hedging ineffectiveness has been recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss for the year ended 30 June 2023.

	 D E R I V AT I V E  A S S E T S  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

The table below sets out total derivative assets and liabilities treated as hedging derivatives:

2023 2022

Carrying amount 
at fair value

Notional 
value

Carrying amount 
at fair value

Notional 
value

Derivative 
liabilities

Hedging 
instrument

Risk $M $M $M $M

Cash flow 
hedges

Interest rate 
swaps

Interest 2.7 150.0 – –

	 R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R AT E G Y  F O R  H E D G E  A C C O U N T I N G 

As a result of the general increase in interest rates during the second half of the year, the Group actively manages 
its exposure to interest rate risk by entering ‘receive fixed/pay floating’ interest rate swaps for a portion of the 
Bank’s variable lending book. 

The Group receives fixed interest on swaps with a notional amount of $150 million (2022: $nil), on which it receives 
3.38% to 3.89% interest (2022: $nil) and pays interest at a variable rate based on the one month AUD-Bank Bill 
Swap rate (‘BBSW’) on the notional amount. The weighted average fixed interest rate of interest rate swaps 
hedging interest rate risk as at 30 June 2023 was 3.5%.

At Statement of Financial Position date, the Group received fixed interest on swaps with a notional amount of $150 
million (2022: $nil). 

Under hedge accounting rules, these arrangements are treated as swapping the variable interest received on 
the Bank’s loans to a fixed rate receipt. Interest rate derivatives are executed and designated into a qualifying 
cash flow hedge relationship on inception, swapping out floating rate interest derived on a portion of the Group’s 
variable lending book. This reduces volatility in the Bank’s realised NIM during periods of movement in the cash 
rate. The applicable benchmark interest rate that the Group is exposed to across the time period (1-month BBSW) 
is hedged as this represents the largest component of changes in future expected cash flows.
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	 M AT U R I T Y  P R O F I L E 

The following table shows the maturity profile of hedging instruments based on their notional amounts:

2023 2022

0 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total 0 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

$M $M $M $M $M $M $M $M

Interest rate swaps – 150.0 – 150.0 – – – –

	 F A I R  V A L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T  O F  T H E  H E D G E D  I T E M S

The balance of the cash flow hedge reserve, which represents the effective portion of the movements in the 
hedging instrument, is presented in Note 26. The movements in hedging instruments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reported in the Group’s Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

The Group’s interest rate swaps are classified using the fair value hierarchy level 2 observable inputs valuation 
techniques (refer to note 29). The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on mid-market levels as of the close of 
business on the reporting date. The valuations are derived from proprietary models based upon well recognised 
financial principles and reasonable estimates about relevant future market conditions.

The following table shows the carrying amount of hedged items that are in hedged relationships, and the fair value 
of the hedging instruments in the hedging relationship. Loans and advances are held at amortised cost and do not 
include fair value adjustments. The Group does not hedge its entire exposure to a class of financial instruments, 
therefore the carrying amounts below do not equal the total carrying amount disclosed in other notes.

2023 2022

Carrying 
Amount

Fair value of hedging 
instrument

Carrying 
Amount

Fair value of hedging 
instrument

$M $M $M $M

Loans and advances – variable rate 150.0 (2.7) – –

26.	 Reserves

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

General reserve 47.9 47.9 47.9 47.9

Redeemed member share reserve 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5

Asset revaluation reserve 1.4 1.2 1.4 1.2

Equity investment revaluation reserve 3.2 4.1 3.2 4.1

Business combination reserve 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0

Cashflow hedge reserve (1.9) – (1.9) –

Total reserves 58.1 60.7 58.1 60.7

25 . 	 Der ivat ives (cont inued)
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The movements in reserves during the financial year are set out below:

	 A S S E T  R E V A L U AT I O N  R E S E R V E

The reserve is used to record gains resulting from the revaluation of the land held at fair value, in accordance with 
the accounting policy. Refer to Note 16 for the land revaluation recorded during the financial year.

GROUP AND BANK

2023 2022

$M $M

Balance at beginning of year 1.2 0.1

Revaluation of land 0.2 1.6

Tax effect of revaluations (0.1) (0.5)

Balance at end of year 1.4 1.2

	 E Q U I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T  R E V A L U AT I O N  R E S E R V E

The reserve is used to record gains and losses resulting from movement in the fair value of equity investments held 
at FVTOCI. Refer to note 13 for detail on the equity investment.

GROUP AND BANK

2023 2022

$M $M

Balance at beginning of year 4.1 4.6

Fair value decrease for the year (1.3) (0.7)

Tax effect of revaluations 0.4 0.2

Balance at end of year 3.2 4.1

	 C A S H  F L O W  H E D G E  R E S E R V E

The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, as described in note 25. 

GROUP AND BANK

2023 2022

$M $M

Balance at beginning of year – –

Tax effect of revaluations 0.8 –

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, gross of tax (2.7) –

Balance at end of year (1.9) –

27.	 Dividends

Dividends paid or declared by the Group since the end of the previous financial year was $nil (2022: $nil), paid to 
the shareholders of Chelsea Wealth Management Pty Limited of which $nil (2022: $nil) was paid to an external non-
controlling interest. Police Bank Limited is the majority shareholder of Chelsea Wealth Management Pty Limited. 

Dividends received from Cuscal Limited is disclosed in note 4.

26 . 	 Reserves (cont inued)
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28.	 Financial risk management

The Group applies an enterprise risk management 
framework to development and implement 
strategies, policies, procedures, and controls to 
manage the Groups’ risk. The risks that the Group 
has exposure to include, but are not limited to:

•	 Credit risk
— Lending
— Counterpart credit risk 

•	 Market risk
— Interest rate risk
— Equity investments
— Liquidity risk

•	 Operational risk

This note presents information about the exposure to 
each of these risks and the objectives, policies, and 
processes for measuring and managing risk and 
capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included 
throughout the notes to the financial statements.

Governance and the risk management framework

The Board has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the Group’s 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF). 
This responsibility includes approval of the 
ERMF, setting risk appetite and strategy, driving 
appropriate risk culture, monitoring, and managing 
within the stated appetite, aligning policies and 
processes with appetite, and ensuring that sufficient 
resources are dedicated to risk management. The 
Board has established a governance framework 
that identifies, manages, and reports on risk. This 
manifests as a Three Lines Model with business units 
and management as the first line, risk management 
and compliance functions as the second line 
and internal audit and the respective Board 
subcommittees as the third line.

The Board has established a Risk Committee and 
an Audit Committee to assist the Board with its 
responsibilities in overseeing the ERMF. 

The Risk Committee assists the Board by:

•	 Providing reasonable assurance to the Board 
that core business goals and objectives are 
being achieved in an effective and efficient 
manner, within an appropriate framework of 
governance, risk management and internal 
control;

•	 Monitoring the adequacy, integrity and 
effectiveness of the internal control 
environment and risk management process; 

•	 Reviewing processes established by 
management to ensure the requirements 
of APRA’s Prudential Standards and the 
Corporations Act are being adhered to;

•	 Monitoring compliance with all other internal, 
regulatory, prudential, legal, adopted industry 
and ethical requirements and standards; and

•	 Forming a view of the risk culture of the Group.

The Audit Committee assists the Board by:

•	 Providing reasonable assurance to the Board 
that core business goals and objectives are 
being achieved in an effective and efficient 
manner, within an appropriate framework of 
governance, risk management and internal 
control;

•	 Overseeing the integrity and quality of the 
Bank’s financial reports and statements, 
including financial information provided to 
regulators and members;

•	 Monitoring the adequacy, integrity and 
effectiveness of the internal control 
environment and risk management process; 

•	 Monitoring the effectiveness of the audit 
functions;

•	 Monitoring the effectiveness of the external 
audit functions; and

•	 Reviewing the processes established by 
management to ensure the requirements 
of APRA’s Prudential Standards and the 
Corporations Act are being adhered to.

In addition to the Risk and Audit Committees, the 
Group has the following management committees 
for managing and reporting on risks:

•	 Management Enterprise Risk Committee: 
The Management Enterprise Risk Committee 
incorporates the former Credit Committee, 
with responsibility for managing and reporting 
credit risk exposure. Operational reports are 
scrutinised with exposures monitored against 
Board determined limits. The determination 
of the credit risk of loans in the banking book, 
ensuring provisioning is accurate and also 
determines the adequacy of authorisation 
controls for new loans. This committee also 
monitors a range of enterprise risks, including 
but not limited to information security and 
regulatory obligations.  
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•	 Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO): During 
the year the Asset, Liability, Product and Pricing 
Committee (ALPPCO) was reconstituted to 
Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). This 
Management committee consists of Executives 
and Senior Leadership which meets monthly 
and has responsibility for product functionality 
and pricing, managing interest rate risk 
exposures, and ensuring that the Treasury and 
Finance functions adhere to exposure limits 
as outlined in the policies for interest rate and 
liquidity risk. The daily scrutiny of market risk 
reports is designed to ensure daily operations 
are in line with all required prudential standards 
and bank operating policies and intended to 
prevent any exposure breaches prior to the 
monthly review by ALCO.

Credit Risk 

The credit risk of a financial institution is the risk 
that members, financial institutions, or other 
counterparties will be unable to meet their financial 
obligations to the institution resulting in financial 
loss. Credit risk arises principally from the Group’s 
loans and advances and investments, which are 
managed using the Board-approved credit risk 
management framework. 

Credit risk - lending

Carrying value is the value on the Statement of 
Financial Position. Maximum exposure is the value on 
the  Statement of Financial Position plus “off Balance 
Sheet Position” undrawn facilities consisting of loans 
approved not advanced, redraw facilities, overdraft 
facilities, credit card limits and funds held in loan 
offset accounts. The Group’s maximum exposure is 
as follows:

GROUP & BANK 2023 GROUP & BANK 2022

Carrying 
Value

Undrawn 
Facilities

Maximum 
exposure

Carrying 
Value

Undrawn 
Facilities

Maximum 
exposure

$M $M $M $M $M $M

Home loans 1,905.7 74.8 1,980.5 1,781.2 76.2 1,857.4

Personal loans 57.8 0.2 58.0 64.9 0.3 65.2

Credit cards 14.7 26.8 41.5 14.6 28.0 42.6

Overdrafts 4.9 20.1 25.0 4.8 21.5 26.3

Finance leases 0.2 – 0.2 0.9 – 0.9

Total to households 1,983.3 122.0 2,105.2 1,866.4 126.0 1,992.4

Commercial loans 3.7 – 3.7 0.6 – 0.6

Total gross loans and advanced 1,986.9 122.0 2,108.9 1,876.0 126.0 1,993.0

The risk of losses on loans is reduced through 
the nature and quality of security taken. Note 14 
describes the nature of the security held against 
the loans at balance date. All loans and facilities are 
within Australia. Geographical distribution is detailed 
in note 14.

Credit risk is managed through a structured 
framework of systems and controls including:

•	 Documented credit risk – lending principles 
that are disseminated to all staff involved in the 
lending process;

•	 Documented policies;

•	 Documented processes for approving and 
managing lending based on delegations; and

•	 A series of management reports detailing 
industry, geographic, and Loan to Value Ratio 
(LVR) concentrations, along with monitoring 
non-performing lending.

Documented policies have been endorsed by 
the Board to ensure that loans are only made 
to Members who are capable of meeting loan 
repayments.

Collateral securing loans

A sizeable portion of the loan book is secured 
against residential property in Australia. The Group 
is therefore exposed to the risk of reduction of the 
recoverable amount should residential property 
valuations be subject to a decline. Performance of 
the mortgage secured portfolio is managed and 
monitored against the proportion of loan balances 
in arrears.

Refer to note 14 for more details.

28 . 	 F inancial  r isk management (cont inued)
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Counterparty credit risk

The Group uses the ratings of reputable ratings agencies to assess the credit quality of all investment exposures, 
where applicable, using the credit quality assessment scale in APRA Prudential Guidance APG 112. The credit quality 
assessment scale within this standard has been complied with and assumes no government support i.e. Stand 
Alone Credit Profile (SACP). The tables below indicates Standard and Poor’s (Australia) Pty Ltd equivalent rating as 
determined by APRA’s credit rating grade tables. Exposures may be rated by Standard and Poor’s (Australia) Pty 
Ltd, Moody’s Investors Service Incorporated or Fitch Ratings Ltd. 

The exposure values associated with each credit quality step and residual maturities are as follows:

GROUP 2023 GROUP 2022

Number of 
institutions 
invested 
with

Carrying 
Value

Provision 
for 
expected 
credit 
loss

Carrying 
Value 
Net of 
Provision

Number of 
institutions 
invested 
with

Carrying 
Value

Provision 
for 
expected 
credit 
loss

Carrying 
Value 
Net of 
Provision

Investment 
securities held with:

$M $M $M $M $M $M

Government or  
Semi-Government

2 45.0 – 45.0 2 35.0 – 35.0

ADIs rated A‐1 to A‐1 1 20.8 – 20.8 2 24.7 – 24.7

ADIs rated A‐2 4 42.5 (0.1) 42.4 11 107.0 – 107.0

ADIs rated A‐3 1 3.0 – 3.0 2 14.0 - 14.0

ADIs rated AAA to AA‐ 0 0.0 – – 0 0.0 – –

ADIs rated A+ to A 8 275.8 (0.1) 275.7 8 220.4 - 220.4

ADIs rated BBB+ to 
BBB2‐

13 81.7 (0.1) 81.6 10 79.0 - 79.0

ADIs unrated 0 – – – 1 5.00 - 5.0

Total 29 468.8 (0.3) 468.5 36 485.1 – 485.1

GROUP

2023 2022

Residual maturity analysis $M $M

Up to 1 month – 31.1

1 to 3 months 50.8 70.0

3 to 12 months 91.4 109.0

12 months to 5 years 326.6 267.5

Over 5 years – 8.0

Less: Expected credit loss provision (0.3) –

468.5 485.6

28 . 	 F inancial  r isk management (cont inued)
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GROUP 2023 GROUP 2022

Number of 
institutions 
invested 
with

Carrying 
Value

Provision 
for 
expected 
credit 
loss

Carrying 
Value 
Net of 
Provision

Number of 
institutions 
invested 
with

Carrying 
Value

Provision 
for 
expected 
credit 
loss

Carrying 
Value 
Net of 
Provision

Deposits at call and 
cash at bank held 
with:

$M $M $M $M $M $M

ADIs rated A‐1 to A‐1 2 24.9 – 24.9 2 67.7 – 67.7

Total 2 24.9 – 24.9 2 67.7 – 67.7

GROUP

2023 2022

Residual maturity analysis $M $M

At call 24.9 67.7

Up to 1 month – –

1 to 3 months – –

Less: Expected credit loss provision – –

24.9 67.7

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that adverse changes in prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates and credit spreads of 
financial instruments will negatively impact the income and value derived from holding such instruments.

The Bank’s activities are centred around making loans, taking deposits and investing in liquid assets and other ADI 
term deposits in Australian Dollars. The Bank does not trade in the financial instruments it holds on its books.

The banking book has exposure to adverse changes to interest rates, which will negatively affect the Bank’s profit 
in current and future periods derived from net interest income (interest earned less interest paid). This risk is known 
as Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB).

The Bank operates a hold to maturity liquid portfolio and does not conduct any proprietary trading activities 
(buying and selling securities for short-term capital gains) or operate any trading books that expose it to any other 
form of market risk.

Treasury manages Market Risk including IRRBB with oversight from ALCO.

( I ) 	 I N T E R E S T  R AT E  R I S K

Interest rate risk is the risk of changes to the fair value or future cash flows arising from financial instruments due 
to the changes in interest rates. Most banks are exposed to interest rate risk within their Treasury operations. The 
Group does not trade in financial instruments.
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( I I ) 	 I N T E R E S T  R AT E  R I S K  I N  T H E  B A N K I N G  B O O K

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in its banking book due to mismatches between the repricing dates of 
assets and liabilities. The Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book is measured daily, reported to ALCO monthly, and 
to the Board monthly.

The level of mismatch on the banking book is set out in the following table which displays the period that each 
asset and liability will reprice as at balance date:

GROUP AND BANK 2023

Floating 
Rate

<1 
month

>1‐3 
months

>3‐12 
months

>1‐5 
years

>5 
years

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

Total

Financial assets $M $M $M $M $M $M $M $M

Cash and cash equivalents 72.4 – – – – – 1.0 73.4

Trade and other receivables – – – – – – 6.7 6.7

Investment securities – 40.6 35.8 75.2 316.9 – – 468.5

Equity Investments – – – – – – 8.5 8.5

Loans and advances 1,116.8 – 0.9 305.9 551.0 2.2 – 1,976.8

Total financial assets 1,189.2 40.6 36.6 381.1 867.9 2.2 16.2 2,533.9

Financial Liabilities

Call Deposits 1,304.9 – – – – – – 1,304.9

Term Deposits – 335.0 75.3 174.0 41.2 – – 625.5

Negotiable certificates of deposit – 59.9 79.6 12.6 – – – 152.1

RBA Term Funding Facility – – – 33.8 – – – 33.8

Floating rate notes – – – – 55.0 – – 55.0

Wholesale Term Deposit Funding - 24.0 31.0 34.0 1.0 – – 90.0

Interbank Repo – 40.2 – – – – – 40.2

Trade and other payables – – – – – – 15.4 15.4

Derivative liability – – – – 2.7 – 2.7

Total financial liabilities  
– on balance sheet sheet

1,304.9 459.1 185.9 254.5 99.9 – 15.4 2,319.6

Undrawn loan commitments  
– not recognised

– – – – – – 122.0 122.0

Total financial liabilities 1,426.9 459.1 185.9 254.5 99.9 – 137.4 2,441.6
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GROUP AND BANK 2022

Floating 
Rate

<1 
month

>1‐3 
months

>3‐12 
months

>1‐5 
years

>5 
years

Non-
Interest 
Bearing

Total

Financial assets $M $M $M $M $M $M $M $M

Cash and cash equivalents 74.4 – – – – – 2.1 76.5

Trade and other receivables – – – – – – 4.1 4.1

Investment securities – 382.3 102.8 – – – – 485.1

Equity Investments – – – – – – 9.7 9.7

Loans and advances 1,726.8 – 39.3 27.9 65.7 – – 1,859.7

Total financial assets 1,801.2 382.3 142.1 27.9 65.7 – 15.9 2,435.1

Financial Liabilities

Call Deposits 1,447.5 – – – – – – 1,447.5

Term Deposits – 328.2 90.2 148.1 32.8 1.0 – 600.3

Negotiable certificates of deposit – – 57.4 – – – - 57.4

Withdrawal shares – – – – – – 0.3 0.3

Repurchase securities – – – 49.0 33.8 – – 82.8

RBA Term Funding Facility – – 40.0 – – – – 40.0

Trade and other payables – – – – – – 11.4 11.4

Total financial liabilities  
– on balance sheet sheet

1,447.5 328.2 187.6 197.1 66.6 1.0 11.7 2,239.7

Undrawn loan commitments  
– not recognised

– – – – – – 126.0 126.0

Total financial liabilities 1,573.5 328.2 187.6 197.1 66.6 1.0 137.7 2,365.7

Management of Interest Rate Risk in the  
Banking Book

The Group utilises Change in the Economic Value of 
Equity (∆EVE) and Change in Net Interest Income 
(∆NII) as its primary IRRBB metrics. The change in 
Economic Value of Equity (∆EVE) focuses on the 
risk to net worth (Police Bank’s Capital) arising from 
all repricing mismatches and other interest rate 
sensitive positions over the long term. The change 
in Net Interest Income (∆NII) measures the changes 
in Net Interest Income (earnings) and focuses on the 
impact of changes in interest rates on earnings in 
the near term.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The Group’s exposure to market risk is measured 
and monitored using interest rate sensitivity models.

The policy of the Group to manage the risk is to 
monitor on a monthly basis the changes to maturity 

profiles within its deposit base and changes in the 
underlying portfolio mix to ensure that such changes 
will not have an unacceptable adverse outcome 
to the Group. The policy of the Group is to use 
derivatives to hedge against adverse consequences 
of interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to 
interest rate risk is set out in the table at (ii) Interest 
Rate Risk in the Banking Book, which details the 
contractual interest change profile.

Economic Value of Equity (∆EVE)) and the change 
in Net Interest Income (ΔNII), is subjected to a 
100bp parallel shock. NII is a simple approximation 
of expected changes in earnings levels based on 
the same notional repricing cash flow data as used 
for the EVE approach and can be interpreted as a 
continuation of the EVE method for the short term. In 
this approach, the accumulated effect of an interest 
rate shock on net interest income (NII) up to a time 
horizon of one year is calculated and reported as a 
change to the base case (ΔNII).
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Based on the calculations as at 30 June 2023:

•	 A change to the Economic Value of Equity from 
a +100bp shock (∆EVE) is -3.52% of capital. The 
∆NII impact of a shock is a $3.9 million change 
in net interest income. 

•	 A change to the Economic Value of Equity from 
a -100bp shock (∆EVE) is 3.70% of capital. The 
∆NII impact of a shock is -$2.7 million change in 
net interest income. 

Both metrics were within risk appetite of the Group 
and being actively managed and monitored.

The method used in determining the sensitivity is 
to evaluate the profit based on the timing of the 
interest repricing on the banking book of the Bank 
for the next twelve months. In performing the 
calculation, the assumptions applied are that:

•	 The interest rate change is applied equally over 
the loan products and term deposits;

•	 The rate change is as at the beginning of the 
twelve month period and no other rate changes 
are effective during the period;

•	 The term deposits all reprice to the new interest 
rate at the term maturity, or are replaced by 
deposits with similar terms and rates applicable;

•	 Savings deposits do not reprice in the event of a 
rate change;

•	 Fixed rate loans all reprice to the new interest 
rate at the contracted date;

•	 Variable rate mortgage loans all reprice to the 
new interest rate in one month;

•	 Personal loans reprice at the contracted 
maturity date;

•	 All loans are repaid in accordance with the 
current average repayment rate (or contractual 
repayment terms);

•	 The value and mix of call savings to term 
deposits is unchanged; and

•	 The value and mix of personal loans to 
mortgage loans is unchanged.

The Group adopted a Zero Floor rate for Savings 
and Term Deposit products in its IRRBB assumptions 
which is market standard for financial institutions of 
similar size and complexity. 

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will 
not be able to efficiently meet both expected 
and unexpected current and future cash flow 
commitments without negatively affecting the 
Group’s daily operations or its financial condition. 
Board policies require the maintenance of adequate 
cash reserves and committed credit facilities to 
meet the member withdrawal demands and other 
creditor commitments when requested, as well 
as appropriate forecasting and stress testing 
procedures. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by:

•	 Continuously monitoring actual daily cash flows 
and longer term forecasted cash flows;

•	 Monitoring the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities;

•	 Maintaining adequate reserves, liquidity support 
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities; 

•	 Monitoring the prudential liquidity ratio daily; 

•	 Holding repo-eligible securities that may be 
used as collateral when borrowing from the 
Reserve Bank of Australia; and 

•	 Maintaining a securitisation trust to hold 
mortgage rights that may be provided as 
collateral should the Bank borrow from the 
Reserve Bank of Australia.

The Group is subject to the Minimum Liquidity 
Holdings (MLH) approach under Prudential Standard 
APS 210 and as such is not required to adopt the 
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) or Net Stable Funding 
Ratio (NSFR) measures. The Group is required 
to maintain a minimum MLH ratio of 9% of total 
adjusted liabilities as liquid assets capable of being 
converted to cash within 48 hours. 

The Group’s risk appetite is to maintain at least 10% 
of funds as liquid assets to maintain adequate funds 
to meet member withdrawal requests. The ratio is 
calculated daily. Should the liquidity ratio fall below 
this level, Management and the Board have policies 
and procedures in place to address the matter and 
ensure that liquid funds are obtained from new 
deposits, either from Authorised Deposit-taking 
Institutions (ADIs), retail and wholesale depositors, 
or available borrowing facilities. The Group’s 
complied with all APRA liquidity requirements 
throughout the year.
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Maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities

Monetary assets and liabilities have differing 
maturity profiles depending on their contractual 
term, and in the case of loans, the repayment 
amount and frequency. 

The following table shows the period in which 
different monetary assets and liabilities held 
will mature and be eligible for renegotiation or 
withdrawal. In the case of loans, the table shows 
the period over which the principal outstanding will 

be repaid based on the remaining period to the 
repayment date assuming contractual repayments 
are maintained and is subject to change in the event 
that current repayment conditions are varied. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows, allocated to time bands 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can 
be required to pay. For interest rate swaps the cash 
flows have been estimated using forward interest 
rates applicable at the end of the reporting period.

GROUP AND BANK 2023

No 
maturity

<1 
month

>1‐3 
months

>3‐12 
months

>1‐5 
years

>5 
years

Total

Financial assets $M $M $M $M $M $M $M

Cash and cash equivalents – 73.4 – – – – 73.4

Trade and other receivables – 6.7 – – – – 6.7

Investment securities – 40.6 35.8 75.0 317.1 – 468.5

Loans and advances – 70.4 28.8 89.6 365.0 1,423.0 1,976.8

Equity investment 8.5 – – – – – 8.5

Total financial assets 8.5 191.1 64.6 164.6 682.1 1,423.0 2,533.9

Financial Liabilities

Call Deposits – 1,304.9 – – – – 1,304.9

Term Deposits – 335.0 75.3 174.0 41.2 – 625.5

Negotiable certificates of deposit – 59.9 79.6 12.6 – – 152.1

RBA Term Funding Facility – – – 33.8 – – 33.8

Floating rate notes – – – – 55.0 – 55.0

Wholesale Term Deposit Funding – – – 89.0 1.0 – 90.0

Interbank Repo – 40.2 – – – – 40.2

Trade and other payables – 15.4 – – – – 15.4

Derivative liability – – – – 2.7 – 2.7

Total financial liabilities  
– on balance sheet sheet

– 1,755.4 154.9 309.4 99.9 – 2,319.6

Undrawn loan commitments  
– not recognised

– – 122.0 – – – 122.0

Total financial liabilities – 1,755.4 276.9 309.4 99.9 – 2,441.6
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GROUP AND BANK 2022

No 
maturity

<1 
month

>1‐3 
months

>3‐12 
months

>1‐5 
years

>5 
years

Total

Financial assets $M $M $M $M $M $M $M

Cash and cash equivalents – 76.5 – – – – 76.5

Trade and other receivables – 4.1 – – – – 4.1

Investment securities – 31.2 70.0 109.0 267.5 7.4 485.1

Loans and advances – 57.0 27.2 87.4 348.9 1,339.1 1,859.7

Equity investment 9.7 – – – – – 9.7

Total financial assets 9.7 168.8 97.2 196.4 616.4 1,346.5 2,435.1

Financial Liabilities

Call Deposits – 1,447.5 – – – – 1,447.5

Term Deposits – 328.2 90.2 148.1 32.8 1.0 600.3

Negotiable certificates of deposit – – 57.4 – – – 57.4

Repurchase securities – 40.0 – – – 40.0

RBA Term Funding Facility – – – 49.0 33.8 – 82.8

Trade and other payables – 11.4 – – – – 11.4

Total financial liabilities  
– on balance sheet sheet

– 1,787.1 187.6 197.1 66.6 1.0 2,239.4

Undrawn loan commitments  
– not recognised

– – 126.0 – – – 126.0

Total financial liabilities – 1,787.1 313.6 197.1 66.6 1.0 2,365.4

Operational Risk

The Management Enterprise Risk Committee 
is responsible for managing and reporting on 
Enterprise Risk across the Group, including 
Operational Risk. Operational risk is the risk of 
loss resulting from inadequate or failed processes, 
personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from 
external factors. It includes legal risk but excludes 
strategic and reputational risk. Operational risk can 
occur at every level in an organisation. The seven 
key types of operational risks are: internal fraud; 
external fraud; employment practices and workplace 
safety; clients, products and business practice; 
damage to physical assets; business disruption and 
system failures; and execution delivery and process 
management.

The Group’s objective is to manage operational 
risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial loss 
through the application of controls whilst avoiding 
procedures that inhibit innovation and creativity. 
These controls are managed through the application 
of policies, processes, and systems to minimise the 
likelihood and impact of risk events. Some of these 
controls are:

•	 Segregation of duties;

•	 Documentation of policies and procedures, 
employee job descriptions and responsibilities;

•	 Whistleblowing policies;

•	 Effective dispute resolution procedures;

•	 Effective insurance arrangements; and

•	 Contingency plans for dealing with loss of 
systems and premises, and data/systems 
protection.

The Group has implemented an Enterprise-wide Risk 
Policy which operationalises the Risk Management 
framework, and includes risk identification, 
measurement, evaluation, monitoring and reporting 
processes where the Board and senior management 
identify key risks using a ‘top down’ approach and 
business units identify risks using a ‘bottom up’ 
approach.

The Risk Management Framework is underpinned 
by a culture of individual accountability and 
responsibility based on a Three Lines Model. This is 
represented at an operational level through business 
units and Management as the first line, designated 
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risk and compliance functions as the second line, 
and through internal audit, external audit, and the 
respective Board subcommittees as the third line.

Compliance

The Group has a compliance program, requiring 
regular reviews of policies, procedures, and 
reporting to ensure compliance with legal 
requirements and Prudential Standards.

Fraud

The Group has systems, policies and processes in 
place that are considered to be robust enough to 
prevent and/or detect material fraud. 

Outsourcing arrangements

The Group has arrangements with other 
organisation’s to facilitate the supply of services to 
Members. 

Cuscal Limited

Cuscal Limited is an ADI that supplies settlement, 
transaction processing, card, interchange, and other 
services to other organisations including banks, 
credit unions and building societies. The company 
provides:

•	 Settlement services for member cheques, 
Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT), EFTPOS, ATM, 
Direct Entry, BPAY, NPP, Mobile Banking and 
Visa card transactions and real-time gross 
settlement system (RTGS) payments;

•	 Facilitates switching activities to link Visa 
cards operated through RediATMs and other 
approved ATM providers to the Group’s 
computer systems; and

•	 Manages the supply of Visa Cards and provides 
Fraud Monitoring services for card transactions.

Ultradata Australia Pty Limited

Ultradata Australia Pty Limited provides and 
maintains the share registry and core banking 
software utilised by the Group. 

Capital Management

Capital levels are managed to ensure compliance 
with APRA’s requirements. Those requirements 
encompass a framework of three pillars:

•	 Pillar 1 – minimum capital requirements, 
including a specific capital charge for 
operational risk;

•	 Pillar 2 – enhanced supervision of capital 
management including the application of an 
internal capital adequacy assessment process; 
and

•	 Pillar 3 – more extensive disclosure 
requirements.

Pillar 1

Capital is measured as prescribed by APRA’s 
prudential standards. These standards act to deliver 
capital requirements in respect of credit risk, market 
risk and operational risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is measured using the Standardised 
Approach in Prudential Standards APS112. The 
capital charge attached to each asset is based 
on weightings prescribed in Australian Prudential 
Standards.

Market risk

The Group is not required to allocate capital against 
market risk as no trading activity is undertaken and 
the Standardised Approach does not result in any 
allocation against interest rate risk in the banking 
book.

Operational risk

Operational risk is measured using the Standardised 
Approach defined in Prudential Standard APS 
114. The operational risk capital requirement is 
calculated by mapping the Group’s three-year 
average net interest income and net non-interest 
income to the Bank’s various business lines.

Cyber risk

The Group is required to meet APRA’s prudential 
standard CPS 234 Information Security and has 
a cybersecurity framework based on National 
Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) 
that facilitates the preservation of information 
assets, confidentiality, integrity and availability. 
The term information assets means information 
and information technology, including software, 
hardware, and data (both soft and hard copy).

Capital Management 

The Group’s operational risk capital requirement was 
$10.0 million.

Tier 1 Capital

The majority of Tier 1 capital consists of Common 
Equity Tier 1 capital
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Tier 2 Capital

Tier 2 capital consists of capital instruments that 
combine the features of debt and equity in that they 
are structured as debt instruments but exhibit some 
of the loss absorption and funding flexibility features 
of equity. There are a number of criteria that capital 
instruments must meet for inclusion in Tier 2 capital 
resources as set by APRA. Refer to the following 
table for details of what makes up the Tier 2 capital.

2023 2022

Tier 1 $M $M

Tier 1 common equity 220.8 213.5

Less: prescribed deductions (8.5) (10.6)

Net tier 1 capital 212.3 202.9

Tier 2 capital – –

Total capital 212.3 202.9

The Group has a minimum Prudential Capital 
Requirement (PCR) requirement of 10.5% 
excluding regulatory buffers, as compared to the 
risk weighted assets at any given time. The ratio 
is calculated by adding Net tier 1 capital and Tier 
2 capital divided by risk weighted assets. The 
capital ratio can be affected by growth in assets 
relative to growth in reserves and by changes in 
the mix of assets.

The capital ratio can be affected by growth 
in assets relative to growth in reserves and 
by changes in the mix of assets. The Group 
manages capital through reviewing the ratio 
monthly and monitoring major movements in 
asset levels. The Group’s policy requires reporting 
to the Board and the regulator if the capital 
ratio falls below 14.5%. Further, a 5-year capital 
projection is maintained to assess how strategic 
decisions or trends may impact on the level of 
capital. 

The capital ratio at the end of the financial year 
over the past 5 years is as follows:

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

21.64% 18.58% 19.24% 18.27% 19.12%

Pillar 2 

Pillar 2 of the Prudential framework relates to 
any risk factor to which an ADI might be exposed 

that is not included in Pillar 1. These risks fall into 
3 categories:

Pillar 1 risks not fully captured by the Pillar 1 
process, for example credit concentration risk.

Inherent risks not covered by Pillar 1, including:

•	 Interest rate risk in the banking book;

•	 Liquidity risk; and

•	 Strategic risk.

Risks arising from external factors such as 
business cycles effects and the macroeconomic 
environment.

In relation to these risks, the major 
measurements for additional capital are 
recognised by monitoring and stress testing for:

•	 Asset impairment – the impact of economic 
and employment factors on the loan losses, 
and/or recovery of investments.

•	 Property value decline – the impact on 
property values declining and the related 
exposure to higher capital required to 
recognise potential losses or risk weight on 
assets.

•	 Interest rate risk – the impact on capital 
from changes in interest rates impacting the 
net interest margin and net surplus; and

•	 Events impacting on additional costs of 
retention of liquid funds and exercising 
available liquidity drawdown facilities.

Internal Capital Adequacy Management

The Group manages its internal capital levels 
for both current and future activities through 
a combination of committees. The outputs of 
the individual committees are reviewed by the 
Board in its capacity as the primary governing 
body. The capital required for any change in the 
Bank’s forecasts for asset growth, or unforeseen 
circumstances is assessed by the Board. 
Management then updates the forecast capital 
resources models produced and the impact 
upon the overall capital position of the Bank is 
reassessed.
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29.	� Fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, 
the most advantageous market to which the Bank 
has access at that date.

The Group measures fair value using the following 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical instruments.

Level 2 – valuation techniques for which all 
significant inputs are based on observable market 
data.

Level 3 – valuation techniques for which all 
significant inputs are not based on observable 
market data.

When applicable, the fair value of an instrument is 
calculated using the quoted price in an active market 
for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if 
all transactions take place with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis. For all other financial instruments, fair 
values are determined using other techniques.

If the input used to measure the fair value of an 
asset or liability might be categorised in different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair 
value measurement is categorised in its entirety 
in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the 
lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement. The Group recognises transfers 
between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end 
of the reporting period during which the change has 
occurred.

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022 there were no transfers 
between levels.

Methodologies and assumptions

Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methodologies and assumptions:

Financial instruments carried at fair value

•	 The Group’s investment in Cuscal is considered 
a level 3 under the fair value measurement 
hierarchy.

•	 For interest rate swaps – the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows based on 
observable yield curves. The cash flow hedge 
derivatives are considered level 2 under the fair 
value measurement hierarchy. 

Financial instruments carried at amortised cost

•	 Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables: 
These are measured at amortised cost and 
maturing within 12 months. The carrying value 
approximates their fair value as they are short 
term in nature and therefore considered level 1 
under the fair value hierarchy.

•	 Investments: The fair value of investments 
at amortised cost was calculated using the 
effective interest rate method. The amortised 
cost carrying value approximates fair value and 
they are considered level 2 under the fair value 
measurement hierarchy. 

•	 Loans and advances: The carrying value of 
loans, advances and other receivables is net of 
specific provisions for impairment. These are 
carried at amortised cost. The amortised cost 
carrying value approximates fair value and 
they are considered level 3 under the fair value 
measurement hierarchy. 

•	 Deposits, borrowings, and lease liabilities: 
These are carried at amortised cost and is 
estimated by reference to current market rates. 
Given the nature, the liabilities are determined 
to be a level 2 under the fair value hierarchy.
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GROUP & BANK 2023

Carrying 
Value

Fair value 
Level 1

Fair value 
Level 2

Fair value 
Level 3

Fair value 
Total

Notes $M $M $M $M $M

Equity investments 13 8.5 – – 8.5 8.5

Total financial assets 8.5 – – 8.5 8.5

Derivatives – interest rate swaps 25 2.7 – 2.7 – 2.7

Total financial liabilities 2.7 – 2.7 – 2.7

GROUP & BANK 2022

Carrying 
Value

Fair value 
Level 1

Fair value 
Level 2

Fair value 
Level 3

Fair value 
Total

Notes $M $M $M $M $M

Equity investments 13 9.7 – – 9.7 9.7

Total financial assets 9.7 – – 9.7 9.7

Derivatives – interest rate swaps 25 – – – – –

Total financial liabilities – – – – –

The following tables reflect the carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost under AASB 9 Financial Instruments, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The carrying values 
of certain on-balance sheet financial instruments measured at amortised cost approximate fair values and are therefore 
not included in the table below.

GROUP & BANK 2023

Carrying 
Value

Fair value 
Level 1

Fair value 
Level 2

Fair value 
Level 3

Fair value 
Total

Notes $M $M $M $M $M

Investment securities 12 468.5 – 464.8 – 464.8

Loans and advances 14 1,986.9 – – 1,980.3 1,980.3

Total financial assets 2,463.9 – 464.8 1,988.8 2,453.6

GROUP & BANK 2022

Carrying 
Value

Fair value 
Level 1

Fair value 
Level 2

Fair value 
Level 3

Fair value 
Total

Notes $M $M $M $M $M

Investment securities 12 485.1 – 485.1 – 485.1

Loans and advances 14 1,867.0 – – 1,864.8 1,864.8

Total financial assets 2,361.8 – 485.1 1,874.5 2,359.6

29. 	� Fair  value of f inancial  assets and l iabi l i t ies (cont inued)
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30.	 Standby credit facilities

The Group has the following standby credit facilities:

GROUP BANK

2023 2022 2023 2022

$M $M $M $M

Cuscal overdraft facility 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0

Amount drawn – – – –

Total facilities available 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0

The Group has an overdraft facility with Cuscal and maintains a security deposit of $20.78 million 
(FY22: $20.78 million) with Cuscal to secure this facility and settlement services. No other form of 
security is provided by the Group.

31.	 Key management personnel

The directors and other key management personnel of the Group during or since the end of the financial year were:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS POSITION

Peter Remfrey Chair, Non-executive director

Robert Redfern Deputy Chair, Non-executive director

Colin Dyson Non-executive director

Patrick Gooley Non-executive director

David Hudson Non-executive director

Nick Kaldas (resigned 26 May 2023) Non-executive director

Julie Osborne (resigned 31 July 2023) Non-executive director

Sharon Waterhouse (resigned 26 September 2023) Non-executive director

Justine Saunders Non-executive director

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS POSITION

Greg McKenna Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Leanne Ward Chief Financial Officer

Denis Fuelling Chief People and Marketing Officer

Rayna Heckenberg Chief Risk Officer

Nicholas Tseros Chief Member Officer

Brian Pereira (resigned 15 September 2022) Chief Digital and Operations Officer 

Lyndall Bushell (appointed 24 July 2023) Chief Information Officer 

Bridget Soul (appointed 1 February 2023 and 
resigned 11 July 2023)

Acting Chief Operating Officer

Except as noted, the named persons held their current position for the whole of the financial year and since the end 
of the financial year.
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Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation was as follows:

GROUP & BANK 2023 GROUP & BANK 2022

Directors Other 
KMP

TOTAL Directors Other 
KMP

TOTAL

$M $M $M $M $M $M

Short‐term employee benefits 0.6 2.5 3.1 0.6 2.2 2.8

Post‐employment benefits 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.2

Other long‐term benefits – – – – – –

Termination benefits – – – – 0.1 0.1

Share-based payment – – – – – –

0.7 2.7 3.4 0.7 2.4 3.1

Short term benefits are salaries and wages, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and the value of fringe 
benefits received. 

Post-employment benefits are payments to defined contribution superannuation plans. 

Other long-term benefits are the net increase in the long service leave provision. 

All remuneration to directors was approved by members at the previous Annual General Meeting held on 24 
November 2022.

Share options granted to key management personnel

No employee share options have been granted during the year (FY22: nil).

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group’s key management personnel are the individuals responsible for planning, controlling, and managing 
the Group, being the non-executive directors, Chief Executive Officer, and the Executive Leadership Team.

Loans to key management personnel

The Group has provided several key management personnel with loans at rates comparable to the average 
commercial rate of interest. The loans to key management personnel are secured. 

The following table outlines aggregate amounts in respect of loans made to key management personnel of the 
Group.  

GROUP & BANK 2023 GROUP & BANK 2022

Mortgages 
– secured

Other 
term 

loans

Revolving 
credit 

facilities

Mortgages 
– secured

Other 
term 

loans

Revolving 
credit 

facilities

$M $M $M $M $M $M

Funds available to be drawn 0.9 – 0.1 0.4 – –

Balance 5.2 – – 6.4 – –

Funds advanced – – – 2.1 – –

Interest and other revenue earned 0.1 – – 0.1 – –

All loans disbursed were approved in accordance with standard lending policies for each class of loan. No benefits 
or concessional terms and conditions are applicable to close family members of key management personnel. No 
loans to directors, other key management personnel, or their close family relatives are impaired.

31 . 	 Key management personnel (cont inued)
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Other transactions with key management personnel

Other transactions with key management personnel include deposits and interest paid on deposits. The total value 
of these transactions was as follows:

GROUP AND BANK

2023 2022

Term and Savings Deposits 1.9 3.4

Interest Paid – –

The Group’s policy for receiving deposits from key management personnel is that all transactions are approved, 
and deposits accepted on the same terms and conditions which apply to members for each type of deposit.

Transactions with other related parties

Transactions with related parties include deposits from director-related entities or close family members of 
directors and other key management personnel.

The Group’s policy for receiving deposits from related parties is that all transactions are approved and accepted 
on the same terms and conditions which apply to members.

There are no benefits paid or payable to close family members of the directors and other key management 
personnel.

There are no service contracts to which key management personnel, or their close family members are an 
interested party.

32.	 Remuneration of auditors

GROUP BANK

2 0 2 3 2 0 2 2 2 0 2 3 2 0 2 2

Audit and review services $M $M $M $M

Audit and review of financial statements  
‐ Group and controlled entities 228,250 167,125 228,250 167,125

Total remuneration for audit and review services

Statutory services

Other statutory services 110,000 35,000 110,000 35,000

Total remuneration for assurance services

Other non-audit services

Other services 46,764 63,025 46,764 25,237

Total remuneration for non-audit services

Total remuneration of auditor 385,014 265,150 385,014 227,362

The auditor of the Group is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. All amounts include 10% GST. 

Statutory services consist of fees for services that are required by legislation to be provided by the auditor, 
including certain reporting to APRA and the AFSL Form FS71. 

Other non-audit services consist of engagements in relation to an audit that are not the direct audit or review of 
financial reports. These services include tax compliance, accounting advice and agreed-upon procedures. 

31 . 	 Key management personnel (cont inued)
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33.	 Commitments

	 O U T S TA N D I N G  L O A N  C O M M I T M E N T S

The outstanding loan commitments shown in the table below constitute contingent assets. These commitments 
would be classified as loans and advances in the Statement of Financial Position should they be drawn upon by the 
member.

GROUP AND BANK

2 0 2 3 2 0 2 2

Outstanding loan commitments $M $M

Loans approved but not funded 65.7 66.4

Undrawn credit commitments 46.9 49.5

Loans available for redraw 9.3 10.1

Total commitments 122.0 126.0

	 M AT E R I A L  S E R V I C E  C O N T R A C T  C O M M I T M E N T S

Commitments arise from material service contracts, which have been contracted for at balance date but not 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

The Group has contracts with Ultradata Australia Pty Limited and Temenos Australia Operations Pty Ltd for 
provision of the Bank’s application software and associated support services. 

Furthermore, during the year the Group entered into various agreements for software and related hosting services 
as part of the core banking transformation program. This includes various vendors involved in the implementation 
and configuration of transformation program.

The balance of fees payable under these contracts are payable over the following periods:

GROUP BANK

2 0 2 3 2 0 2 2 2 0 2 3 2 0 2 2

$M $M $M $M

Within 1 year 4.2 1.9 4.2 1.9

1 to 2 years 5.2 1.4 5.2 1.4

2 to 5 years 5.6 2.6 5.6 2.6

Greater than 5 years 3.0 – 3.0 –

Total commitments 18.0 5.9 18.0 5.9
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34.	 Cash flow information

	 C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  O P E R AT I N G  A C T I V I T I E S

Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash inflows from operating activities:

GROUP BANK

2 0 2 3 2 0 2 2 2 0 2 3 2 0 2 2

$M $M $M $M

Net profit for the year 9.5 4.3 12.6 4.1

Bad debts written off 0.2 – 0.2 –

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 0.5 – 0.4 –

Depreciation and amortisation 1.9 2.5 1.4 2.2

Impairment of customer listing intangible assets 3.1 – – –

Increase in trade and other receivables (2.6) (1.6) (2.7) (1.5)

Increase in other assets (0.3) 0.6 (0.4) 1.2

Increase in current tax payable 1.6 – 1.6 –

Increase in net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (2.0) 1.4 (1.9) 1.4

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 4.0 (5.7) 3.2 (4.5)

Decrease in provisions (0.3) (0.7) (0.4) (0.3)

Increase in expected credit loss provision 3.4 – 3.4 –

Increase in gross loans and advances (119.9) (98.8) (119.9) (98.8)

Decrease in unamortised loan origination fees (0.3) – (0.3) –

(Decrease)/increase in deposits (14.0) 154.7 (14.0) 154.7

Net cash (outflows)/inflows from operating activities (115.3) 56.7 (116.9) 58.5

	 C A S H  F L O W S  P R E S E N T E D  O N  A  N E T  B A S I S

Cash flows arising from loan advances and repayments, member deposits and withdrawals, member shares issued 
and redeemed, and borrowings drawn and repaid are presented on a net basis in the statement of cash flows.

	 C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S

The net cash inflows from financing activities is reconciled in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
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35.	 Contingent liabilities

From time to time the Group is exposed to 
contingent risks and liabilities arising from the 
conduct of its business including claims on income 
taxes and the amount expected to be paid to tax 
authorities. Such matters require the exercise of 
judgement and can be uncertain.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has no material 
contingent liabilities which need to be disclosed 
(2022: Nil).

The tax affairs of the Group are subject to regular 
reviews by the Australian Taxation Office as well as 
the Revenue Offices of the various Australian states 
and territories. The Group continues to respond to 
any notices and requests for information it receives 
from relevant tax authorities. The potential outcome 
and total costs associated with these activities 
remain uncertain until finalised. 

There are no current disputes or claims made 
against the Group by tax authorities (2022: Nil).

36.	 Financial reporting by segments 

The Group only has one major business and 
operating segment being ‘Retail Banking’. The 
principal activities of the Group are confined to the 
raising of funds and the provision of finance for 
housing, consumer lending and business banking. 
For the purpose of performance evaluation, risk 
management and resource allocation, the decisions 
are based predominantly on the key performance 
indicators at the Group level.

The Group operates in one geographical segment 
which is the Commonwealth of Australia. There are 
no material identifiable segments to report. No 
single customer contributes revenue greater than 
10% of the Group’s revenues.

37.	� Subsequent events occurring after 
the reporting date

The Board approved the purchase of the remaining 
20% shares in Chelsea Wealth Management Pty 
Limited. 

The change in ownership structure presented 
an opportunity to enhance the integration of the 
business and improve financial performance with 
positive outcomes for the Bank. The purchase of the 
shares would not negatively impact on the overall 
operation of Chelsea Wealth Management or its 
performance from a financial standpoint but would 
change the ownership structure to being wholly 
owned by the Bank. 

The share sale agreement was executed on 21 July 
2023 and therefore the subsequent changes are not 
reflected in the financial statements as of 30 June 
2023 being a non-adjusting subsequent event. 

There has not been any other matter or 
circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the 
financial year that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group in future financial year.

38.	 Entity details

The registered office of the Group is:

Police Bank Limited
25 Pelican Street
Surry Hills, NSW, 2010. 
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The directors declare that:

a)	�  in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that Police Bank Limited and 
its Controlled Entities will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable;

b)	�  in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial 
statements for the are in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as 
stated in note 1 to the financial statements;

c)	�  in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial 
statements and notes thereto are in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including 
compliance with accounting standards and 
giving a true and fair view of Police Bank Limited 
and its Controlled Entities’ financial position and 
performance, and

d)	�  the directors have been given the declarations 
required by s.295A of the Corporation Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors 
made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 
2001.

Peter Remfrey
Director, Chair
Sydney, 30 October 2023

Robert Redfern
Director, Deputy Chair
Sydney, 30 October 2023

On behalf of the directors

D I R E C T O R S ’  D E C L A R AT I O N 
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 0  J U N E  2 0 2 3

1 0 5



 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 
 
Quay Quarter Tower 
50 Bridge Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
 
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7000 

  

IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReeppoorrtt  ttoo  tthhee  MMeemmbbeerrss  ooff                              
PPoolliiccee  BBaannkk  LLiimmiitteedd  aanndd  iittss  CCoonnttrroolllleedd  EEnnttiittiieess  

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Police Bank Limited (the “Company”) and its Controlled Entities (the 
“Group”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023,  the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information, and the directors’ declaration. 
 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

• Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of their financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

• Complying with Australian Accounting Standards  and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 
the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s 
report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information 

(a) The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2023, but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
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we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Mark Lumsden    
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 

30 October 2023 
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Police Bank Head Office
25 Pelican Street
Surry Hills
Sydney NSW 2000

policebank.com.au


